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Statement of changes in equity 
 
 

 
Share 

capital 
Statutory 

reserve 
Contingency 

reserve 

Investments 
fair value 

reserve 

Insurance 
finance 
reserve  

Reinsurance 
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses Total 

 BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD 
         
Balance at 1 January 2022 65,439,300 7,771,644 228,580 6,451,544 - - 25,587,838 105,478,906 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 17 - - - - - - (46,581,826) (46,581,826) 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 - - - (5,998,290) - - 5,324,417 (673,873) 
Prior year adjustment (Note 31)  - - - (690,338) - - 1,254,571 564,233 

Restated balance as at 1 January 2022 65,439,300 7,771,644 228,580 (237,084) - - (14,415,000) 58,787,440 

Loss for the year - - - - - - (70,627,510) (70,627,510) 

Transfer to contingency reserve - - 3,612 - - - (3,612) - 
Other comprehensive income for the year to 
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss         

Unrealised fair value loss on investments at    
FVOCI - - - 

              
(930,283) - - - 

               
(930,283) 

Net finance income from insurance contracts 
issued - - -  96,153,767 - - 96,153,767 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 3,612 (930,283) 96,153,767 - (70,631,122) 24,595,974 

Restated as at 31 December 2022 65,439,300 7,771,644 232,192 (1,167,367) 96,153,767 - (85,046,122) 83,383,414 

         
Restated balance at 1 January 2023  65,439,300 7,771,644 232,192 (1,167,367) 96,153,767 - (85,046,122) 83,383,414 
Loss for the year - - - - - - (14,690,305) (14,690,305) 
Other comprehensive loss for the year to be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:         

Unrealised fair value gain on investments at    
FVOCI - - - 704,296 - - - 704,296 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 
issued - - - - (17,164,889) - - (17,164,889) 

Transfer to reinsurance reserve - - - - - 12,887 (12,887) - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - 704,296 (17,164,889) 12,887 (14,703,192) (31,150,898) 

At 31 December 2023  65,439,300 7,771,644 232,192 (463,071) 78,988,878 12,887 (99,749,314) 52,232,516 

 
The accounting policies and the notes from pages 15 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 

 

 
31 December 

 2023 

(Restated) 
31 December 

 2022 

 BD BD 
   
Operating activities   
Loss for the year  (14,690,305) (70,627,510) 
Adjustments:   
  Depreciation  1,519 1,254 
  Amortisation of intangible assets 9,920 - 
  Foreign exchange loss - 68,473 
  Depreciation on right-of-use assets 6,855 7,366 
  Interest expense on lease liabilities 803 1,153 
  Unrealised (gain)/loss on investments at fair value through profit or loss (3,460,412) 17,437,450 
  Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments  122,901 (2,456,133) 
  Dividend income  (148,541) (350,089) 
  Interest income  (28,892,319) (28,407,995) 
  Impairment (reversal)/loss recognised on investments, net (176,427) 7,419,402 
  Impairment (reversal)/loss on policy loans (6,336) 594 
   

Operating loss before working capital changes (47,232,342) (76,906,035) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   
Change in reinsurance contract receivable 10,503,982 5,353,935 
Change in other assets 49,305 874,760 
Change in policy loan 119,038 303,463 
Change in amount due to related party 33,243 (102,242) 
Change in insurance contract liabilities (69,732,566) (4,591,400) 
Change in reinsurance contract liabilities (2,528) (30,826) 
Change in other liabilities 894,228 (697,184) 
Zakat and income tax charge paid during the year (12,654) - 
Provision/(payment) for employees' end-of-service benefits 11,853 (6,125) 

Net cash used in operating activities (105,368,441) (75,801,654) 

   
Investing activities   
Purchase of furniture and equipment (3,915) (1,220) 
Proceeds from disposal of furniture and equipment 310 347 
Purchase of intangible asset (39,320) - 
Purchase of financial investments (14,527,820) (42,747,086) 
Proceeds from disposal of investments 60,927,360 51,776,940 
Decrease in term deposits with banks 19,505,386 25,274,094 
Decrease in statutory deposits 54,691 901 
Dividends received  148,541 350,089 
Interest received 31,174,760 28,949,246 

Net cash from investing activities 97,239,993 63,603,311 

   
Financing activities   
Repayment of lease liabilities (8,016) (8,540) 

Net cash used in financing activities (8,016) (8,540) 

   
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (8,136,464) (12,206,883) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 29,406,318 41,613,201 

Cash and cash equivalents, at the end of year 21,269,854 29,406,318 

   
Comprises:   
   Cash in hand 265,209 1,723 
   Current accounts with conventional banks  10,315,367 12,049,632 
   Current accounts with investments banks 10,838,872 17,543,431 
   Allowance for expected credit losses (149,594) (188,468) 

 21,269,854 29,406,318 
 

The accounting policies and the notes from pages 15 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements 
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Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2023 
 
 

1. Status and activities       
 

1.1 Life Insurance Corporation (International) B.S.C. (c) (the “Company”) was formed by Life Insurance 
Corporation of India and The International Agencies Company Limited, Bahrain. The Company is 
registered with the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism under commercial registration no. 
21606 and operates under a license issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain (the “CBB”). The registered 
address is 1st Floor, Ali Al-Wazzan Building, Al-Khalifa Avenue, P. O. Box 584, Manama, Kingdom 
of Bahrain. 
 

1.2 The Company operates branch office “Life Insurance Corporation (International) B.S.C.(c) (Dubai & 
Abu Dhabi Branch)- UAE” in the United Arab Emirates and branch office “Life Insurance 
Corporation (International) B.S.C. (c)- Muscat Branch” in Sultanate of Oman (operations closed during 
the year). The principal activities of these branches are providing life insurance, group life, credit and 
saving insurance. The branches operating results are included as part of these financial statements.  
 

1.3 The Company commenced its operations on 20 July 1989 and is engaged in carrying out life insurance 
business, mainly with Indian expatriates in the Kingdom of Bahrain and other GCC Countries. It is 
also engaged in conducting similar business with all nationalities resident in Bahrain under special 
permission granted by the Central Bank of Bahrain, since November 8, 2006. 
 

1.4 The International Agencies Company Limited is an ‘appointed representative’ of the Company 
providing marketing services to the Company in Bahrain along with other ‘appointed representatives’ 
of the Company. In return the ‘appointed representative’ is entitled to ‘commission’ at the agreed terms. 
 

The International Agencies Company Limited is also an ‘Outsourcing Services provider’ of the 
Company and providing support services (“the Outsourced Services”) related to the Insurance Activity 
in order to serve the Company’s customers, intermediaries, and other stake holders.  In return the 
‘Outsourcing services provider’ is entitled to receive ‘remuneration’ at the agreed terms. 
 

1.5 All reinsurance is ceded to Swiss Reinsurance Company and Munich Reinsurance Company on agreed 
terms. 
 

1.6 Based on resolution number 125 dated 14 July 2004 (Hijri 14/5/1424) issued by the Council of 
Ministers in Saudi Arabia, and its subsequent implementation guidelines thereon, insurance companies 
operating in Saudi Arabia are required to obtain a license to undertake insurance activities in the 
Kingdom from the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (“SAMA”). The requirements for license include 
operating as a public joint stock company and having a minimum paid up capital of Saudi Riyals 100 
million. 
 

Under these regulations, on 29 December 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company submitted a 
license application to SAMA under the name of “Saudi Indian Company for Cooperative Insurance” 
(“SICCI”). The Company has acquired 10.2% of the issued share capital of the SICCI. Further, the 
Company ceased its activities in the Kingdom, but later on August 1, 2005 business activities resumed 
as SAMA permitted existing operations to continue for a three-year grace period. On 28 December 
2008, SAMA did not further extend Saudi Operations of the Company to market new insurance 
policies. 
 

During 2011, SAMA approved an exit plan via letter dated 15.06.1432 H (corresponding 20 May 2011), 
of the Saudi Operations of the Company. The Company transferred the Saudi Operations to the 
Kingdom of Bahrain or LIC India with the consent of the policyholders. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
During the year 2018, SICCI has got the approval from Capital Market Authority and SAMA for 
further capital reduction to 18.03%. Accordingly, Company’s investment in SICCI also got 
proportionately reduced which resulted in recording losses in the income statement for the year 2018.  
 

Investment in SICCI has been fully provided for being identified as impaired as the share trading has 
been suspended by The Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) since 12 November 2018. As of 31 December 
2023, SICCI was under liquidation.  
 

1.7 The Board of the Company in its meeting dated 25 August 2021 approved to operate Oman branch in 
run-off mode. The Company engaged M/s. Dentons, Legal Consultant, Oman for submission of a 
detailed plan seeking approval from CMA to continue Oman operation in run-off mode and further 
transfer of business to Bahrain for future servicing.  
 

The Company submitted a letter dated 27 March 2022 to the regulator CMA seeking approval for 
transfer of Oman policies to Bahrain.  As per the CMA letter dated 23 May 2022, the Company 
submitted all the requirements on 31.10.2022. Final requirement ‘No Objection’ letter from CBB dated 
8 February 2023 for transfer of insurance portfolio of Oman branch to the Company’s Bahrain Branch 
was submitted on 9 February 2023 to CMA. 
 

On 4 April 2023 Company was informed that CMA cancelled the license of LIC Intl. Oman Branch. 
CMA notified their Administrative Decision no. 18/2023 stating that Company’s registration in the 
Insurance Register has been cancelled and Company can proceed for deregistration of commercial 
registration with Ministry of Commerce and Industry & Promotion of Investment. 
 

The Company decided to closure its operations in Oman by end of July 2023 by transferring all policies 
to Bahrain for further servicing from 1 August 2023. Communication has been sent by SMS and Mail 
to all Oman Policy Holders on 5 May 2023. Newspaper advertisements have been given on 24 May 
2023, 25 May 2023 and 28 May 2023 in both Arabic and English languages. Based on the queries 
received from policy holders, Company prepared a FAQ document, which was sent by mail to all policy 
holders on 31 May 2023. The same has been made available on the Company’s website under the Oman 
link. From 1 August 2023 onwards policy servicing started from Bahrain Branch. Physical documents 
including policy files got received by Bahrain Branch. Branch at Oman got closed and the premises got 
vacated on 31 July 2023. Company has completed transfer of assets and other liabilities and kept 
investments of Omani Riyal Eight million under lien to CMA, which are needed to be released by 
August 2024. The Company has already started the de-registration process with Ministry of Commerce. 
 

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approved by the Board of Directors 
on 4 March 2024. 
 
 

2. Summary of accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments measured at fair value. The financial statements include the net assets and results of 
operations of the Company in the Kingdom of Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman and Qatar and its branch in 
the United Arab Emirates. All inter-branch transactions and balances are eliminated. 
 
These financial statements are presented in Bahrain Dinar (“BD”) being the functional currency of the 
Company. All values are rounded to the amount nearest to Bahrain Dinar. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
2.2 Statement of compliance and going concern assumption 
 

The financial statements of the Company has been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in 
conformity with the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial 
Institutions Law 2006, and the regulations set out in Volume 3 (Insurance) of CBB Rulebook. They 
have been prepared under the assumption that the Company operates on a going concern basis. 
 
2.3 New or revised Standards or Interpretations  

 
New Standards adopted as at 1 January 2023 
 

The following amendments to existing standard have been adopted during the year: 
 
• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 
The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide 
guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. 
The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by 
replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a 
requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply 
the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. The amendments 
have had an impact on the Company’s disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the measurement, 
recognition or presentation of any items in the Company’s financial statements.   
 
Several new standards, amendments to existing Standards which have become effective from 1 January 
2023 and have therefore been adopted do not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial 
results or position. 
 
Adoption of IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 
IFRS 17 comes into effect for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Its main objective is to 
provide more transparency to the users of financial statements over the revenue and costs associated 
with its insurance activities. It also provides information about the current and future profitability of 
its insurance activities which was not reflected in IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’. This transparency is 
achieved through measuring longer-term insurance contracts using a general measurement model 
which takes into account discounted probability-weighted cash flows, explicit risk adjustments, and 
calculating a contractual service margin that represents the unearned profits of the contract which is 
recognised as revenue over the insurance contract over the coverage period. This general measurement 
model is supplemented by:  
 

• adaptation for the default approach (the general measurement module), and  

• a specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach). 
 

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  
IFRS 9 replaces the existing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 
includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a 
new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general 
hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition 
of financial instruments from IAS 39.   



Life Insurance Corporation (International) B.S.C. (c) 

 

- 18 - 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract - Amendments to IAS 37  
In May 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include 
when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making. 

 
The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract 
to provide goods or services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related 
to contract activities. General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and ate 
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. 

 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The 
Company will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations 
at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. In addition 
to the above, there are certain new standards and amendments to accounting and reporting standards 
that are not mandatory for the Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 
but are considered not to be relevant or to have any significant effect on die Company’s operations 
and are therefore not detailed in these financial statements. 

 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 
and IFRS 16 
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an 
interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). 

 
The amendments include the following practical expedients: 
 

- A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly 
required by the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement 
in a market rate of interest; 
 

- Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge 
documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued; and 

 
- Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement 

when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. 
 
These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company. The Company intends 
to use the practical expedients in future periods if they become applicable. 

 
New standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Company 

 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, Standards, 
amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the IASB. None of 
these Standards or amendments to existing Standards have been adopted early by the Company.  
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning 
on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. New Standards, amendments to Interpretations 
not adopted in the current year have not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial statements.  
 

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures  
 

2.4 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
 

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, a comprehensive new accounting standard 
for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once 
effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. In June 2020, the IASB issued amendments 
to IFRS 17. These amendments included changing the effective date to 2023. 
 

IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), 
regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial 
instruments with discretionary participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply. 
 

In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely based on grandfathering previous local 
accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all 
relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by:  
 

• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)  
• A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts 
 

The main features of the new accounting model for insurance contracts are as follows: 
 

• The measurement of the present value of future cash flows, incorporating an explicit risk 
adjustment, remeasured every reporting period (the fulfilment cash flows) 

• A Contractual Service Margin (CSM) that is equal and opposite to any day one gain in the fulfilment 
cash flows of a group of contracts, representing the unearned profit of the insurance contracts to 
be recognised in profit or loss based on insurance contract services provided over the coverage 
period. 

• Certain changes in the expected present value of future cash flows are adjusted against the CSM and 
thereby recognised in profit or loss over the remaining coverage period. 

• The effect of changes in discount rates will be reported in either profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income, determined by an accounting policy choice. 

• The presentation of insurance revenue and insurance service expenses in the statement of 
comprehensive income based on the concept of services provided during the period. 

• Amounts that are paid to a policyholder in all circumstances, regardless of whether an insured event 
occurs (non-distinct investment components) are not presented in the income statement, but are 
recognised directly on the balance sheet. 

• Insurance services results (earned revenue less incurred claims) are presented separately from the 
insurance finance income or expense. 

• A loss recovery component of the asset for the remaining coverage of a group of reinsurance 
contracts held is determined and recorded in profit or loss when an entity recognises a recovery of 
a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying issued contracts as well as for 
subsequent measurement of the recovery of those losses. 

• Entities should present separately in the statement of financial position, the carrying amounts of 
portfolios of insurance contracts issued that are assets and those that are liabilities, with the same 
requirement applying to portfolios of reinsurance contracts held. 

• Extensive disclosures to provide information on the recognised amounts from insurance contracts 
and the nature and extent of risks arising from these contracts. 
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IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures 
required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. 
 
IFRS 17, together with IFRS 9, will result in profound changes to the accounting in IFRS financial 
statements for insurance companies. This will have a significant impact on data, systems and processes 
used to produce information for financial reporting purposes. The new model is likely to have a 
significant impact on the profit and total equity of some insurance entities, resulting in increased 
volatility compared to today’s models. Key performance indicators will also likely be affected. 
 
The Company expects that the new standard will result in a change to the accounting policies for 
insurance contracts and reinsurance, together with amendments to presentation and disclosures. 
 
The Company expects the that the adoption of IFRS 17 will have an impact on the amounts reported 
and disclosures made in this interim financial information in respect of insurance contracts issued and 
reinsurance contracts held. The Company monitored updates on the planning and implementation 
activities for IFRS 17 and reviewed and approved technical policies during 2022 in support for the 
latest ‘dry run’ conducted during the year which resulted in the below impacts. 
 
Moreover, management is still refining its assumptions, methodology and models to refine the impact 
of adopting IFRS 17 and IFRS 9. 
 
IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.  
The Company has restated comparative information for 2022 and 2021 applying the transitional 
provisions in Appendix C to IFRS 17. The nature of the changes in accounting policies can be 
summarised, as follows: 
 
a. Changes to classification, measurement 

 
The adoption of IFRS 17 did not change the classification of the Company’s insurance contracts.  
 
IFRS 17 establishes specific principles for the recognition and measurement of insurance contracts 
issued and reinsurance contracts held by the Company.  
 
The key principles of IFRS 17 are that the Company:  
 
• Identifies insurance contracts as those under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk 

from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified 
uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.  

• Separates specified embedded derivatives, distinct investment components and distinct goods or 
services other than insurance contract services from insurance contracts and accounts for them in 
accordance with other standards.  

• Divides the insurance and reinsurance contracts into groups it will recognise and measure. 

• Recognises and measures groups of insurance contracts at: 

- A risk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that incorporates 
all available information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way that is consistent with observable 
market information.  

- Plus, an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service 
margin or CSM). 

 



Life Insurance Corporation (International) B.S.C. (c) 

 

- 21 - 

 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
• Recognises profit from a group of insurance contracts over each period the Company provides 

insurance contract services, as the Company is released from risk. If a group of contracts is expected 
to be onerous (i.e., loss-making) over the remaining coverage period, the Company recognises the 
loss immediately.  

• Recognises an asset for insurance acquisition cash flows in respect of acquisition cash flows paid, 
or incurred, before the related group of insurance contracts is recognised. Such an asset is 
derecognised when the insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the measurement of the 
related group of insurance contracts. 

 
b. Changes to presentation and disclosure 
 

For presentation in the statement of financial position, the Company aggregates portfolios of insurance 
and reinsurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held and presents separately: 
 

- Portfolios of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are assets; 

- Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are assets; 

- Portfolios of insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts issued that are liabilities; and 

- Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities. 

 

The portfolios referred to above are those established at initial recognition in accordance with the IFRS 
17 requirements. 
 

The line-item descriptions in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income have 
been changed significantly compared with last year. Previously the Company reported the following 
line items: 
 

- Net Premium earned; 
- Commission paid; 
- Net claims paid; 
- Provision for outstanding claims; and 
- Decrease/(increase) in mathematical reserve for life insurance operations (net). 
 

Instead, IFRS 17 requires separate presentation of: 
 

- Insurance revenue; 
- Insurance service expense; 
- Insurance finance income or expenses; and 
- Income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held. 
 

The Company provides disaggregated qualitative and quantitative information about: 
 

− Amounts recognised in its financial statements from insurance contracts; and 

− Significant judgements, and changes in those judgements, when applying the standard. 
 
c. Transition 
 

At 1 January 2022, the Company applied the following approaches to identify and measure certain 
groups of contracts as follow: 
 

a. Modified retrospective approach for groups of contracts between the years 2017 and 2021. 
b. Fair value for all groups of contracts at and before year 2016.  
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The Company, prior to transition, grouped contracts from multiple cohorts and years into a single unit 
for accounting purposes. 
 

On transition date, 1 January 2022, the Company: 
 

• Have identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance contracts as if IFRS 17 had 
always applied; 

• Have identified, recognised and measured assets for insurance acquisition cash flows as if IFRS 17 
had always applied. However, no recoverability assessment was performed before the transition 
date. At transition date, a recoverability assessment was performed and no impairment loss was 
identified; 

• Derecognised any existing balances that would not exist had IFRS 17 always applied; and 

• Recognised any resulting net difference in equity. 

 

The application of the full retrospective approach on transition for these portfolios was determined to 
be impracticable for the Company, as obtaining all required historical data for its existing products 
from the actuarial valuation reports was not possible. Therefore, the Company has used reasonable and 
supportable information from its existing reporting systems, which resulted in the closest outcome to 
the full retrospective approach. 
 

The Company has aggregated contracts issued more than one year apart for groups of contracts 
applying the modified retrospective approach at transition, as it did not have supportable information 
to aggregate contracts into groups including only contracts issued within one year. 
 

The Company has elected to use the simplification in the modified retrospective approach for 
determining the CSM or loss component of the liability for remaining coverage at the transition date. 
 

The Company has used the following procedure to determine the CSM at initial recognition for these 
contracts: 
 

• Estimated future cash flows at the date of initial recognition as the amount of the future cash flows 
at transition date, adjusted by the cash flows that have occurred between the date of initial 
recognition and the transition date. The cash flows that are known to have occurred include cash 
flows resulting from contracts that ceased to exist before the transition date. 

• Estimated historical discount rates applied to some cash flows in the period prior to 2017 using an 
observable market interest curve for that period, adjusted by the average spread between observable 
market yield curves and the yield curve used to determine current discount rates for the years 
between 1 January 2017 and 1 January 2022. 

• Estimated the risk adjustment for non-financial risk at the date of initial recognition by adjusting 
the risk adjustment at transition date by the expected release of risk in the periods before transition. 
The expected release of risk was determined with reference to the release of risk for similar contracts 
that the Company has issued subsequent to the transition date. 

• The CSM at transition date has been further determined by: 
 

− Using the modified discount rates determined at initial recognition to accrete interest on the 
CSM. 

− Applying the amount of the CSM recognised in profit or loss because of the transfer of services 
before the transition date, by comparing the remaining coverage units at that date with the 
coverage units provided under the group of contracts before the transition date. 
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The Company has elected to disaggregate insurance finance income or expenses between amounts 
included in profit or loss and amounts included in other comprehensive income and reset the 
cumulative amount of insurance finance income or expenses recognised in other comprehensive 
income at the transition date to zero. 
 

Obtaining reasonable and supportable information to apply the full retrospective approach was 
impracticable without undue cost or effort. The Company has determined the CSM of the liability for 
remaining coverage at the transition date, as the difference between the fair value of the group of 
insurance contracts and the fulfilment cash flows measured at that date. In determining fair value, the 
Company has applied the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, except for the demand 
deposit floor requirement. 
 

The Company has aggregated contracts issued more than one year apart in determining groups of 
insurance contracts under the fair value approach at transition as it did not have reasonable and 
supportable information to aggregate groups into those including only contracts issued within one year. 
 

For the application of the fair value approach, the Company has used reasonable and supportable 
information available at the transition date in order to: 
 

• Identify groups of insurance contracts; 
• Determine whether any contracts are direct participating insurance contracts; and 
• Identify any discretionary cash flows for insurance contracts without direct participation features. 
 

The discount rate for the group of contracts applying the fair value approach was determined at the 
transition date. Therefore, for the measurement of fulfilment cash flows at the date of transition, the 
locked-in discount rate is the weighted average of the rates applicable at the date of initial recognition 
of contracts that joined a group over a 12-month period. The discount rate used for accretion of interest 
on the CSM is determined using the bottom-up approach at inception. 
 

The Company used the income approach to determine the fair value amount used for establishing the 
insurance contract liabilities at the transition date. 
 

2.5 Insurance and reinsurance contracts classification 
 

The Company issues insurance contracts in the normal course of business, under which it accepts 
significant insurance risk from its policyholders. As a general guideline, the Company determines 
whether it has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits payable after an insured event with 
benefits payable if the insured event had not occurred. Insurance contracts can also transfer financial 
risk. 
 

The Company issues non-participating annuity, non-participating protection, non-participating saving 
products and participating saving products. 
 

2.6 Insurance and reinsurance contracts accounting treatment   
 
2.6.a) Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracts   
 

The Company assesses its life insurance and reinsurance products to determine whether they contain 
components which must be accounted for under another IFRS rather than IFRS 17 (distinct non 
insurance components). After separating any distinct components, an entity must apply IFRS 17 to all 
remaining components of the (host) insurance contract. Currently, the Company’ products do not 
include distinct components that require separation.   
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IFRS 17 defines investment components as the amounts that an insurance contract requires an insurer 
to repay to a policyholder in all circumstances, regardless of whether an insured event has occurred. 
Investment components which are highly interrelated with the insurance contract of which they form 
a part are considered non-distinct and are not separately accounted for. However, receipts and 
payments of the investment components are excluded from insurance revenue and insurance expenses. 
The surrender options are considered non distinct investment components as the Company is unable 
to measure the value of the surrender option component separately from the life insurance portion of 
the contract.    
 
2.6.b) Level of aggregation 

 
IFRS 17 requires an entity to determine the level of aggregation for applying its requirements. The level 
of aggregation for the Company is determined firstly by dividing the business written into portfolios. 
Portfolios comprise groups of contracts with similar risks which are managed together. Portfolios are 
further divided based on expected profitability at inception into three categories:  onerous contracts, 
contracts with no significant risk of becoming onerous, and the remainder. This means that, for 
determining the level of aggregation, the Company identifies a contract as the smallest ‘unit’, i.e., the 
lowest common denominator. However, the Company makes an evaluation of whether a series of 
contracts can be treated together in making the profitability assessment based on reasonable and 
supportable information, or whether a single contract contains components that need to be separated 
and treated as if they were stand-alone contracts. As such, what is treated as a contract for accounting 
purposes may differ from what is considered as a contract for other purposes (i.e., legal or 
management). IFRS 17 also notes that no group for level of aggregation purposes may contain 
contracts issued more than one year apart. 
 
The Company has defined portfolios of insurance contracts issued based on its product lines, namely 
non-participating annuity, non-participating protection, non-participating saving products and 
participating saving products due to the fact that the products are subject to similar risks and managed 
together. The expected profitability of these portfolios at inception is determined based on the existing 
actuarial valuation models which take into consideration existing and new business. In determining 
groups of contracts, the Company has elected to include in the same group contracts where its ability 
to set prices or levels of benefits for policyholders with different characteristics is constrained by 
regulation. 
 
The groups of contracts for which the fair value approach has been adopted on transition include 
contracts issued more than one year apart. 
 
The annuity and term insurance and reinsurance contracts portfolios are divided into: 
 

• A group of contracts that are onerous at initial recognition.   

• A group of contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous 
subsequently. 

• A group of the remaining contracts in the portfolio. 
 
The reinsurance contracts held portfolios are divided into:    
 

• A group of contracts on which there is a net gain on initial recognition. 

• A group of contracts that have no significant possibility of a net gain arising subsequent to initial 
recognition. 

• A group of the remaining contracts in the portfolio. 
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2.6.c) Recognition  
 

The Company recognises groups of insurance contracts that it issues from the earliest of the following:  
 

• The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts. 

• The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group is due, or when the first payment 

is received if there is no due date. 

• For a group of onerous contracts, as soon as facts and circumstances indicate that the group is 

onerous.  

 

The Company recognises a group of reinsurance contracts held it has entered into from the earliest of 
the following: 
 

• The beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. However, the 

Company delays the recognition of a group of reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate 

coverage until the date when any underlying insurance contract is initially recognised, if that date is 

later than the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held, and  

• The date the Company recognise an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts if the 

Company entered into the related reinsurance contract held in the group of reinsurance contracts 

held at or before that date;  

• The reinsurance contracts held by the Company provide proportionate cover. Therefore, the 

Company does not recognise a proportional reinsurance contract held until at least one underlying 

direct insurance contract has been recognised; and  

• The Company adds new contracts to the group in the reporting period in which that contract meets 

one of the criteria set out above. 

 

2.6.d) Onerous groups of contracts  
 

The Company issues some contracts before the coverage period starts and the first premium becomes 
due. Therefore, the Company has determined whether any contracts issued form a group of onerous 
contracts before the earlier of the beginning of the coverage period and the date when the first payment 
from a policyholder in the group is due. The Company looks at facts and circumstances to identify if a 
group of contracts are onerous based on: 
 

• Pricing information.  

• Results of similar contracts it has recognised.  

• Environmental factors, e.g., a change in market experience or regulations. 

 

2.6.e) Contract boundary 
 

The Company include in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts all the future cash flows 
within the boundary of each contract in the group. Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance 
contract if they arise from substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in 
which the Company can compel the policyholder to pay the premiums, or in which the Company has 
a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with insurance contract services. A substantive 
obligation to provide insurance contract services ends when: 
 

• The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and, as a 
result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those risks or  
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• Both of the following criteria are satisfied:  
 

o The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio of insurance contracts 
that contain the contract and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the 
risk of that portfolio.  

o The pricing of the premiums up to the date when the risks are reassessed does not take into 
account the risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date. 

 

A liability or asset relating to expected premiums or claims outside the boundary of the insurance 
contract are not recognised. Such amounts relate to future insurance contracts.  
 

For life contracts with renewal periods, the Company assess whether premiums and related cash flows 
that arise from the renewed contract are within the contract boundary. The pricing of the renewals is 
established by the Company by considering all the risks covered for the policyholder by the Company, 
that the Company would consider when underwriting equivalent contracts on the renewal dates for the 
remaining service. The Company reassess contract boundary of each group at the end of each reporting 
period.  
 

2.6.f) Measurement- general model  
 

2.6.f.1) Insurance contracts – initial measurement 
 

Measurement- general model Insurance contracts – initial measurement  
 

The general model measures a group of insurance contracts as the total of:  
 

• Fulfilment cash flows 

• A CSM representing the unearned profit the Company will recognise as it provides insurance 

contract services under the insurance contracts in the group Fulfilment cash flows comprise 

unbiased and probability-weighted estimates of future cash flows, discounted to present value to 

reflect the time value of money and financial risks, plus a risk adjustment for nonfinancial risk. The 

Company’ objective in estimating future cash flows is to determine the expected value, or the 

probability- weighted mean, of the full range of possible outcomes, considering all reasonable and 

supportable information available at the reporting date without undue cost or effort. The Company 

estimates future cash flows considering a range of scenarios which have commercial substance and 

give a good representation of possible outcomes. The cash flows from each scenario are probability-

weighted and discounted using current assumptions.  
 

When estimating future cash flows, the Company includes all cash flows that are within the contract 
boundary including:  
 

• Premiums and related cash flows.  

• Claims and benefits, including reported claims not yet paid, incurred claims not yet reported and 

expected future claims.  

• Payments to policyholders resulting from embedded surrender value options.  

• An allocation of insurance acquisition cash flows attributable to the portfolio to which the contract 

belongs.  

• Claims handling costs.  

• Policy administration and maintenance costs, including recurring commissions that are expected to 

be paid to intermediaries.  

• An allocation of fixed and variable overheads directly attributable to fulfilling insurance contracts.  

• Transaction-based taxes.  
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The Company incorporate, in an unbiased way, all reasonable and supportable information available 
without undue cost or effort about the amount, timing and uncertainty of those future cash flows. The 
Company estimate the probabilities and amounts of future payments under existing contracts based on 
information obtained, including: 
 
• Information about claims already reported by policyholders  

• Other information about the known or estimated characteristics of the insurance contracts  

• Historical data about the Company’ own experience, supplemented, when necessary, with data from 

other sources. Historical data is adjusted to reflect current conditions  

• Current pricing information, when available 

 
The measurement of fulfilment cash flows includes insurance acquisition cash flows which are allocated 
as a portion of premium to profit or loss (through insurance revenue) over the period of the contract 
in a systematic and rational way on the basis of the passage of time. The Company do not elect to 
accrete interest on insurance acquisition cash flows to be allocated to profit or loss. 
 
2.6.f.2) Reinsurance contracts held – initial measurement 

 
The measurement of reinsurance contracts held follows the same principles as those for insurance 
contracts issued, with the exception of the following: 
 
• Measurement of the cash flows include an allowance on a probability-weighted basis for the effect 

of any non-performance by the reinsurers, including the effects of collateral and losses from disputes  

• The Company determine the risk adjustment for non-financial risk so that it represents the amount 

of risk being transferred to the reinsurer  

• The Company recognise both day 1 gains and day 1 losses at initial recognition in the statement of 

financial position as a CSM and releases this to profit or loss as the reinsurer renders services, except 

for any portion of a day 1 loss that relates to events before initial recognition  

 
Where the Company recognise a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance 
contracts or when further onerous underlying insurance contracts are added to a group, it establishes 
a loss- recovery component of the asset for remaining coverage for a group of reinsurance contracts 
held depicting the recovery of losses.  
 
The Company calculate the loss-recovery component by multiplying the loss recognised on the 
underlying insurance contracts and the percentage of claims on the underlying insurance contracts the 
Company expects to recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held. Where only some contracts 
in the onerous underlying group are covered by the group of reinsurance contracts held, the Company 
uses a systematic and rational method to determine the portion of losses recognised on the underlying 
group of insurance contracts to insurance contracts covered by the group of reinsurance contracts held.  
 
The loss-recovery component adjusts the carrying amount of the asset for remaining coverage. Where 
the Company enters into reinsurance contracts held which provide coverage relating to events that 
occurred before the purchase of the reinsurance, such cost of reinsurance is recognised in profit or loss 
on initial recognition. 
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2.6.f.3) Insurance contracts – subsequent measurement 
 

The CSM at the end of the reporting period represents the profit in the group of insurance contracts 
that has not yet been recognised in profit or loss, because it relates to future service to be provided. 
For a group of insurance contracts, the carrying amount of the CSM of the group at the end of the 
reporting period equals the carrying amount at the beginning of the reporting period adjusted, as 
follows: 
 

• The effect of any new contracts added to the group. 

• Interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during the reporting period, measured at the 

discount rates at initial recognition. 

• The changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to future service, except to the extent that:  
 

o Such increases in the fulfilment cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the CSM, giving 

rise to a loss or  

o Such decreases in the fulfilment cash flows are allocated to the loss component of the liability 

for remaining coverage. 
 

• The effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM  

• The amount recognised as insurance revenue because of the transfer of insurance contract services 

in the period, determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period 

(before any allocation) over the current and remaining coverage period. The locked-in discount rate 

is the weighted average of the rates applicable at the date of initial recognition of contracts that 

joined a group over a 12-month period. The discount rate used for accretion of interest on the CSM 

is determined using the bottom-up approach at inception.  
 

The changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to future service that adjust the CSM comprise of:  
 

• Experience adjustments that arise from the difference between the premium receipts (and any 

related cash flows such as insurance acquisition cash flows and insurance premium taxes) and the 

estimate, at the beginning of the period, of the amounts expected. Differences related to premiums 

received (or due) related to current or past services are recognised immediately in profit or loss while 

differences related to premiums received (or due) for future services are adjusted against the CSM. 

• Changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the liability for remaining coverage, 

except those relating to the time value of money and changes in financial risk (recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income rather than adjusting the CSM). 

• Differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the 

actual investment component that becomes payable in the period. Those differences are determined 

by comparing (i) the actual investment component that becomes payable in the period with (ii) the 

payment in the period that was expected at the start of the period plus any insurance finance income 

or expenses related to that expected payment before it becomes payable. The same applies to a 

policyholder loan that becomes repayable.  

• Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service. Except for changes 

in the risk adjustment, adjustments to the CSM noted above are measured at discount rates that 

reflect the characteristics of the cash flows of the group of insurance contracts at initial recognition. 
 

Where, during the coverage period, a group of insurance contracts becomes onerous, the Company 
recognise a loss in profit or loss for the net outflow, resulting in the carrying amount of the liability for 
the group being equal to the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component is established by the Company 
for the liability for remaining coverage for such onerous group depicting the losses recognised. For 
additional disclosures on the loss component.  
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The Company measure the carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts at the end of each 
reporting period as the sum of: (i) the liability for remaining coverage comprising fulfilment cash flows 
related to future service allocated to the group at that date and the CSM of the group at that date; and 
(ii) the liability for incurred claims for the Company comprising the fulfilment cash flows related to 
past service allocated to the group at that date. 

 
2.6.f.4) Reinsurance contracts held – subsequent measurement 

 
The measurement of reinsurance contracts held follows the same principles as those for insurance 
contracts issued, with the exception of the following:  
 
• Changes in the fulfilment cash flows are recognised in profit or loss if the related charges arising 

from the underlying ceded contracts have been recognised in profit or loss. Alternatively, changes 
in the fulfilment cash flows adjust the CSM.  

• Changes in the fulfilment cash flows that result from changes in the risk of non-performance by the 
issuer of a reinsurance contract held do not adjust the contractual service margin as they do not 
relate to future service.  

 
Any change in the fulfilment cash flows of a retroactive reinsurance contract held due to the changes 
of the liability for incurred claims of the underlying contracts is taken to profit and loss and not the 
contractual service margin of the reinsurance contract held.  
 
Where a loss component has been set up subsequent to initial recognition of a group of underlying 
insurance contracts, the portion of income that has been recognised from related reinsurance contracts 
held is disclosed as a loss-recovery component. 
 
Where the Company has established a loss-recovery component, the Company adjusts the loss-
recovery component to reflect changes in the loss component of an onerous group of underlying 
insurance contracts.  
 
A loss-recovery component reverses consistent with reversal of the loss component of underlying 
groups of contracts issued, even when a reversal of the loss-recovery component is not a change in the 
fulfilment cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts held. Reversals of the loss- recovery 
component that are not changes in the fulfilment cashflows of the group of reinsurance contracts held 
adjust the CSM. 
 
2.6.f.5) Insurance contracts – modification and derecognition 

 
The Company derecognise insurance contracts when:  
 
• The rights and obligations relating to the contract are extinguished (i.e., discharged, cancelled or 

expired) or  
• The contract is modified such that the modification results in a change in the measurement model, 

or the applicable standard for measuring a component of the contract. In such cases, the Company 
derecognises the initial contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract. 

 
2.6.f.6) Insurance acquisition cash flows 

 
Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the costs of selling, underwriting and starting a group of 
insurance contracts (issued or expected to be issued) that are directly attributable to the portfolio of 
insurance contracts to which the group belongs.  
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Where insurance acquisition cash flows have been paid or incurred before the related group of 
insurance contracts is recognised in the statement of financial position, a separate asset for insurance 
acquisition cash flows is recognised for each related group.  
 

The asset for insurance acquisition cash flow is derecognised from the statement of financial position 
when the insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the initial measurement of the CSM of the 
related group of insurance contracts. The Company expects to derecognise all assets for insurance 
acquisition cash flows within one year. 
 

2.6.f.7) Presentation 
 

The Company has presented separately in the statement of financial position the carrying amount of 
portfolios of insurance contracts issued that are assets, portfolios of insurance contracts issued that are 
liabilities, portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are assets and portfolios of reinsurance contracts 
held that are liabilities. 
 

Any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows recognised before the corresponding insurance 
contracts are recognised are included in the carrying amount of the related portfolios of insurance 
contracts issued.  
 

The Company disaggregate the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income into an insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance 
service expenses, and insurance finance income or expenses.  
 

The Company do not disaggregate the change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk between a 
financial and non-financial portion and includes the entire change as part of the insurance service result.  
 

The Company separately presents income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held from the 
expenses or income from insurance contracts issued. 
 

2.6.f.8) Insurance revenue 
 

The Company’ insurance revenue depicts the provision of services arising from a group of insurance 
contracts at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those services. Insurance revenue from a group of insurance contracts is therefore the 
relevant portion for the period of the total consideration for the contracts, (i.e., the amount of 
premiums paid to the Company adjusted for financing effect (the time value of money) and excluding 
any investment components). The total consideration for a group of contracts covers amounts related 
to the provision of services and is comprised of: 
 

• Insurance service expenses, excluding any amounts relating to the risk adjustment for nonfinancial 
risk and any amounts allocated to the loss component of the liability for remaining coverage.  

• Amounts related to income tax that are specifically chargeable to the policyholder.  
• The risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding any amounts allocated to the loss component 

of the liability for remaining coverage.  
• The CSM release. 
• Amounts related to insurance acquisition cash flows. 
 

2.6.f.9) Loss components 
 

When the Company recognise a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance 
contracts or when further onerous underlying insurance contracts are added to a group, the Company 
establishes a loss-recovery component of the asset for remaining coverage for a group of reinsurance 
contracts held depicting the recovery of losses. 
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Where a loss component has been set up subsequent to initial recognition of a group of underlying 
insurance contracts, the portion of income that has been recognised from related reinsurance contracts 
held is disclosed as a loss-recovery component.  
 

Where a loss-recovery component has been set up at initial recognition or subsequently, the Company 
adjusts the loss-recovery component to reflect changes in the loss component of an onerous group of 
underlying insurance contracts.  
 

The carrying amount of the loss-recovery component must not exceed the portion of the carrying 
amount of the loss component of the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts that the 
Company expects to recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held. On this basis, the loss-
recovery component recognised at initial recognition is reduced to zero in line with reductions in the 
onerous group of underlying insurance contracts and is nil when loss component of the onerous group 
of underlying insurance contracts is nil. 
 

2.6.f.10) Insurance finance income or expenses 
 

Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of 
insurance contracts arising from: 
 

• The effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money  
• The effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk  
 

The Company disaggregate insurance finance income or expenses on insurance contracts issued for its 
non-participating annuity, non-participating protection, non-participating saving products and 
participating saving products portfolios between profit or loss and OCI. The impact of changes in 
market interest rates on the value of the life insurance and related reinsurance assets and liabilities are 
reflected in OCI in order to minimise accounting mismatches between the accounting for financial 
assets and insurance assets and liabilities. The Company’ financial assets backing the insurance issued 
portfolios are predominantly measured at amortised cost or FVOCI. Finance income or expenses on 
the Company’ issued reinsurance contracts is not disaggregated because the related financial assets are 
managed on a fair value basis and measured at fair value through profit or loss.  
 

The Company systematically allocates expected total insurance finance income or expenses over the 
duration of the group of contracts to profit or loss using discount rates determined on initial 
recognition of the group of contracts.  
 

In the event of transfer of a group of insurance contracts or derecognition of an insurance contract, 
the Company reclassifies the insurance finance income or expenses to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment to any remaining amounts for the group (or contract) that were previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 
 
2.6.f.11) Net income or expense from reinsurance contracts held 
 

The Company present separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income the amounts expected to be recovered from reinsurers, and an allocation of the reinsurance 
premiums paid. The Company treats reinsurance cash flows that are contingent on claims on the 
underlying contracts as part of the claims that are expected to be reimbursed under the reinsurance 
contract held and excludes investment components and commissions from an allocation of reinsurance 
premiums presented on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
Amounts relating to the recovery of losses relating to reinsurance of onerous direct contracts are 
included as amounts recoverable from the reinsurer. 
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2.7 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

 
IFRS 9 replaced IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. However, the Company elected, under the amendments to IFRS 
4 to apply the temporary exemption from IFRS 9, deferring the initial application date of IFRS 9 to 
align with the initial application of IFRS 17. 
 
The Company has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively and restated comparative information for 2022 and 
2021 for financial instruments in the scope of IFRS 9. Differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 
9 have been recognised in accumulated losses as of 1 January 2022 and are disclosed in Statement of 
changes in equity. 
 
The nature of the changes in accounting policies can be summarised, as follows: 
 

Changes to classification and measurement 

 
To determine their classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be 
assessed based on a combination of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and the 
instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics. 
 
The IAS 39 measurement categories for financial assets (fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), 
available for sale (AFS), held-to-maturity (HTM) and loans and receivables (L&R) at amortised cost) 
have been replaced by: 
 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss including equity instruments; 
• Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, with gains or losses 

recycled to profit or loss on derecognition; 
• Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, with no recycling of 

gains or losses to profit or loss on derecognition; and 
• Debt instruments at amortised cost. 
• The Company’s classification of its financial assets is explained in Note2.7a. 

 
Changes to the impairment calculation 

 
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’ accounting for impairment losses 
for debt instruments held at FVOCI or amortised cost by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach 
with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. 
 
IFRS 9 requires the Company to record an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at 
FVTPL. For debt instruments, the ECL is based on the portion of lifetime ECLs (LTECL) that would 
result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination or 
purchase of the assets, the allowance is based on the full lifetime ECL. The Company’s classification 
of its financial assets is explained in Note 2.7a. 
 
The adoption of the ECL requirements of IFRS 9 resulted in increases in impairment allowances related 
to the Company’ debt instruments. The increase in allowance was adjusted to Accumulated losses. 
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2.7a Transition disclosures – IFRS 9 
 

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IAS 39 and the balance reported under IFRS 9 
as of initial application date 1 January 2022 is as follows: 
 

 

a) Loans and receivables (L&R). 
b) Held-to-maturity (HTM). 
c) Available for sale (AFS). 
d) Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). 
e) Amortised cost (AC). 
f) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
 

2.8 Financial instruments 
 

Recognition and derecognition 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument.  
 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial 
liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 

a. Financial assets 
 

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets  
 

All financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable), 
except for those trade and other receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and 
are measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15. 
 

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments (if any), are classified 
into the following categories: 
 

• amortised cost, 
• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), or 
• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
 

The classification is determined by both: 
 

• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset, and 
• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

 1 January 2022 

 IAS 39 Remeasurement IFRS 9 
Financial assets Category Amount Reclassification ECL Amount Category 
  BD BD BD BD  
       
Statutory deposits a 704,095 - - 704,095 e 
Cash and cash equivalents a 41,613,201 - - 41,613,201 e 
Term deposits with banks a 116,143,699 - - 116,143,699 e 
Policy loans a 5,072,639 - (332,376) 4,740,263 e 
Debt securities b 445,475,105 - (339,735) 445,135,370 e 
Debt and equity securities c 36,167,037 (24,638,380) (1,762) 11,526,895 f 
Debt securities d 140,747,816 24,638,380 - 165,386,196 d 

  785,923,592 - (673,873) 785,249,719  
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All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, 
except for impairment of trade and other receivables which is presented separately in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVTPL): 
 

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 
contractual cash flows, and 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents, reinsurance contract receivable, term deposits with banks, accrued interest income, 
statutory deposits and other assets fall into this category of financial instruments. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
 

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to 
collect and sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business 
model used, financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and 
interest are accounted for at FVTPL.  
 

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The 
fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions 
or using a valuation technique where no active market exists. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – debt instrument 
 

The Company accounts for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet the following conditions: 
 

• they are held under a business model whose objective it is “hold to collect” the associated cash flows 
and sell, and 
 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Any gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) will be recycled upon 
derecognition of the asset. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – equity instrument 
 

The Company made an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income changes in the 
fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading. This election is made 
on an instrument-by-instrument (share-by-share) basis. Amounts presented in other comprehensive 
income will not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss. However, the Company may transfer the 
cumulative gain or loss within equity. 
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Impairment of financial assets 

 
IFRS 9’s impairment requirements use forward-looking information to recognise expected credit losses 
– the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements 
included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, other 
receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments and some 
financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The Company considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring 
expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts 
that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 
 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 
 
• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 

recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 
• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition 

and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 
 
 ‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 
 
‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit 
losses’ are recognised for the second category. 
 
Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 
 
Other receivables and policy loans 

 
The Company makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for other receivables as well as policy 
loans and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls 
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the 
financial instrument. In calculating, the Company uses its historical experience, external indicators and 
forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix. 
 
The Company assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit 
risk characteristics they have been grouped based on the days past due. Refer to Note 26 for a detailed 
analysis of how the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are applied. 
 
b. Financial liabilities 

 
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

 
The Company’s financial liabilities include insurance contract liabilities, amounts due to related parties, 
reinsurance contracts liabilities and other liabilities. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Company designated a financial 
liability at fair value through profit or loss, if any. Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, 
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. All interest-
related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or 
loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 
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2.9 Furniture and equipment 
 

Furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 
The costs of furniture and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives, which are as follows: 
 

Motor vehicles 5 years 
Furniture, fixtures and others 1 – 4  years 

 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of furniture and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
2.10 Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets comprising computer software that are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any impairment in value. The amount paid for computer software amortized on straight line basis 
over their estimated useful life of 3 years. 
 
2.11 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying value of its tangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exits, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.  
 

Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of 
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.  
 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.   
 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses based on the net present 
value of future cash flows are recognised as an expense immediately. 
 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss previously been 
recognised. The reversal of the loss is recognised immediately in statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 
2.12 Interest income 
 

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at 
the interest rate applicable. 
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2.13 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand and 
bank balances. 
 
2.14 Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal and constructive) as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation.  
 
Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 
 

2.15 Other operating expenses 

 

Staff costs and other operating expenses such as advertisement expenses, annual fees to regulatory 

authorities, professional charges and other administrative expenses are expensed in the normal course 

of business and are accounted as per the accrual basis of accounting. 

 

2.16 Equity  

 
Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been issued.  
 
Statutory reserve is required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Company’s articles 
of association. 10% of the profit for the year should be transferred to statutory reserve every year. The 
Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of the issued 
and paid-up share capital. The reserve cannot be utilised for the purpose of a distribution except in 
such circumstances as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law. 
 
Fair value reserve comprises of fair value changes of investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profits. 

 
2.17 Contingencies 

 
No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is not 
probable. Such situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the outflow of resources is 
remote. 

 
2.18 Fair value  

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured by taking into account the characteristics of the asset 
or liability that if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. 
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For financial reporting purposes fair value measurement is categorized into Levels 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described below: 
 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and  

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the assets or liability. 
 

2.19 Other income 
 

All other income is recognised on an accrual basis. 
 

2.20 Taxation and VAT 
 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable on Saudi Arabian income and 
Zakat tax, Saudi Arabian withholding tax, Kuwait income tax and Oman income tax, calculated using 
tax rates applicable based on Saudi Arabian, Kuwait and Oman operations. 
 

Value Added Tax (VAT) will be charged at 5% and 10% standard rate or 0% (as the case may be) on 
every taxable supply and deemed supply made by the taxable person within the UAE and Bahrain 
jurisdictions. The Company is required to file its VAT returns and compute the payable tax and deposit 
the same within the prescribed due dates of filling VAT return and tax payment. 
 

2.21 Employees’ terminal benefits 
 

Employees’ terminal benefits and entitlements to annual leave, holiday, air passage and other short-
term benefits are recognised as they accrue to the employees. The Company contributes to the pension 
scheme for Bahraini nationals administered by the General Organisation for Social Insurance in the 
Kingdom of Bahrain. The Company’s share of contribution to this funded scheme which is defined 
contribution scheme under IAS-19 - Employee benefits, is recognised as an expense in the statement 
of comprehensive income. 
 

The expatriate employees of the Company are paid leaving indemnity in accordance with the provisions 
of the Bahrain Labour Laws for private sector 2012, based on length of service and final salary. 
Provision for this, which is unfunded, and which represent a defined benefit plan under IAS-19 has 
been made by calculating the notional liability had all employees left at the reporting date. The provision 
is classified as a non-current liability in the statement of financial position. 
 

2.22 Foreign currencies  
 

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in Bahrain Dinars at the approximate rates of exchange 
prevailing at the time of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currency at the reporting date are retranslated at the year-end rates of exchange. Exchange differences 
are reported as part of the results for the year. 
 

For the purpose of presenting financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign 
operations (including comparatives) are presented in Bahraini Dinars using exchange rates prevailing 
at each reporting date. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which 
case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.  Exchange differences arising, if any, 
are classified as equity and transferred to the Company’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of. 
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3. Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and 
estimation uncertainty 
 

When preparing the financial statements, management makes a number of judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
 

a. Significant management judgments 
 

During the year, there were no judgements made by management in applying the accounting policies 
of the Company that had a significant effect on the financial statements. 
 

b. Estimation uncertainty 
 

Information about estimates and assumptions that may have the most significant effect on recognition 
and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be 
substantially different. 
 

Useful lives and residual values of depreciable assets. Management reviews its estimate of the 
useful lives and residual values of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected utility 
of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technological obsolescence that may change the 
utility of certain software and IT equipment and environmental regulations that can make polluting 
assets to be depreciated more quickly. 
 

Fair value measurement. Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of 
financial instruments and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions 
consistent with how market participants would price the asset. Management bases its assumptions on 
observable data as far as possible, but this is not always available. In that case, management uses the 
best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved 
in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date. 
 

3.1 Insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. The Company based its 
assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. 
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes 
are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. The Company disaggregates information to disclose 
life insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts issued separately. This disaggregation has been 
determined based on how the Company is managed.   
 

3.2 The methods used to measure insurance contracts 
 

The Company primarily uses deterministic projections to estimate the present value of future cash 
flows and for some groups it uses stochastic modelling techniques. A stochastic model is a tool for 
estimating probability distributions of potential outcomes by allowing for random variation in one or 
more inputs over time. The random variation is usually based on fluctuations observed in historical 
data for a selected period using standard time-series techniques. 
 

The following assumptions were used when estimating future cash flows: 
 

• Mortality and morbidity rates (term life insurance and reinsurance business) 
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Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, according to the type of contract 
written and the territory in which the insured person resides. They reflect recent historical experience 
and are adjusted when appropriate to reflect the Company’ own experiences. An appropriate, but not 
excessive, allowance is made for expected future improvements. 
 
An increase in expected mortality and morbidity rates will increase the expected claim cost which will 
reduce future expected profits of the Company. 
 

• Longevity (immediate annuity business) 
 
Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, adjusted when appropriate to reflect 
the Company’ own risk experience. An appropriate, but not excessive, allowance is made for expected 
future improvements. 
 
An increase in expected longevity rates will lead to an increase in expected cost of immediate annuity 
payments which will reduce future expected profits of the Company.   
 

• Expenses 
 
Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in–force 
policies and associated overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken as an appropriate 
expense base, adjusted for expected expense inflation if appropriate. 
An increase in the expected level of expenses will reduce future expected profits of the Company. The 
cash flows within the contract boundary include an allocation of fixed and variable overheads directly 
attributable to fulfilling insurance contracts. Such overheads are allocated to groups of contracts using 
methods that are systematic and rational, and are consistently applied to all costs that have similar 
characteristics.   
 

• Lapse and surrender rates 
 
Lapses relate to the termination of policies due to non–payment of premiums. Surrenders relate to the 
voluntary termination of policies by policyholders. Policy termination assumptions are determined 
using statistical measures based on the Company’ experience and vary by product type, policy duration 
and sales trends. 
 
An increase in lapse rates early in the life of the policy would tend to reduce profits of the Company, 
but later increases are broadly neutral in effect.   
The assumptions that have the greatest effect on the expected cash flows are listed below. The table 
below sets out the percentage assumed to apply to industry mortality and morbidity tables in estimating 
fulfilment cash flows:   
 

 Mortality and morbidity rates  
Lapse and surrender 

rates 

Portfolio assumptions 
by type of business 
impacting net liabilities 

31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 

     

Annuities 
75% of LIC (1996-98) Ultimate 
rated down by 3 years 

75% of LIC (1996-98) Ultimate 
rated down by 3 years 

0% 0% 

All products other than 
annuities 

85% of IALM (2006-08) 
Ultimate 85% of IALM (2006-08) Ultimate 

0% 0% 
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3.3 Discount rates 

 
Life insurance contract liabilities are calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at a risk-free 
rate, plus an illiquidity premium where applicable. Risk free rates adjusted for country risk premium 
are determined by reference to the yields of highly liquid AAA-rated sovereign securities in the currency 
of the life insurance contract liabilities. The illiquidity premium is determined by reference to 
observable market rates, including sovereign debt, corporate debt and market swap rates. 
 
Discount rates applied for discounting of future cash flows are listed below: 
 

 1 Year 3Year 5Year 10Year 20Year 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Life insurance 
contracts issued           
BD 8.85% 8.36% 8.04% 7.84% 7.86% 7.60% 7.90% 7.48% 8.23% 7.75% 

 
3.4 Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 

 
The risk adjustment for non-financial risk represents the compensation that the Company requires for 
bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of groups of insurance contracts 
and covers insurance risk, lapse risk and expense risk. The risk adjustment reflects an amount that an 
insurer would rationally pay to remove the uncertainty that future cash flows will exceed the best 
estimate amount.  
 
The Company has estimated the risk adjustment using a cost of capital technique. The cost of capital 
technique requires the Company to estimate the probability distribution of the fulfilment cash flows, 
and the additional capital that it requires at each future date in the cash flow projection to comply with 
the Company’ internal economic capital requirements.    
 
A cost of capital rate is applied to the additional capital requirement in future reporting periods. The 
cost of capital represents the return required by the Company to compensate for exposure to the non-
financial risk. The Company’ cost of capital is set at 6% per annum. The calculated risk adjustment at 
future durations is discounted to the reporting date at the risk-free rate, to be held as a part of the total 
life insurance contract liability.   
 
The risk adjustment for life insurance and reinsurance contracts corresponds to 75% confidence levels, 
respectively (2022: 75%).   

 
3.5 Amortisation of the Contractual Service Margin (CSM)   

 
The CSM is a component of the asset or liability for the group of insurance contracts that represents 
the unearned profit the Company will recognise as it provides services in the future. An amount of the 
CSM for a group of insurance contracts is recognised in profit or loss as insurance revenue in each 
period to reflect the insurance contract services provided under the group of insurance contracts in 
that period. The amount is determined by:     
 

• Identifying the coverage units in the group   

• Allocating the CSM at the end of the period (before recognising any amounts in profit or loss to 
reflect the insurance contract services provided in the period) equally to each coverage unit provided 
in the current period and expected to be provided in the future   

• Recognising in profit or loss the amount allocated to coverage units provided in the period   
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The number of coverage units in a group is the quantity of insurance contract services provided by the 
contracts in the group, determined by considering the quantity of the benefits provided and the 
expected coverage period. For groups of life insurance contracts, the quantity of benefits is the 
contractually agreed sum insured over the period of the contracts. The total coverage units of each 
group of insurance contracts are reassessed at the end of each reporting period to adjust for the 
reduction of remaining coverage for claims paid, expectations of lapses and cancellation of contracts 
in the period. They are then allocated based on probability-weighted average duration of each coverage 
unit provided in the current period and expected to be provided in the future. 
 
For reinsurance contracts issued, the number of coverage units in a group reflects the expected pattern 
of underwriting of the underlying contracts because the level of service provided depends on the 
number of underlying contracts in force. The quantity of benefit is the maximum probable loss. The 
remaining coverage units are reassessed at the end of each reporting period to reflect the expected 
pattern of service and the expectations of lapses and cancellations of contracts. The remaining coverage 
is allocated based on probability- weighted average duration of each coverage unit provided in the 
current period and expected to be provided in the future.   
 
For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM amortisation is similar to the reinsurance contracts issued and 
reflects the expected pattern of underwriting of the underlying contracts because the level of service 
provided depends on the number of underlying contracts in-force.   
 
3.6 Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows 

 
The Company applies judgement in determining the inputs used in the methodology to systematically 
and rationally allocate insurance acquisition cash flows to groups of insurance contracts. This includes 
judgements about whether insurance contracts are expected to arise from renewals of existing insurance 
contracts and, where applicable, the amount to be allocated to groups including future renewals and 
the volume of expected renewals from new contracts issued in the period.  
 
In the current and prior year, the Company did not allocate any insurance acquisition cash flows to 
future groups of insurance contracts, as it did not expect any renewal contracts to arise from new 
contracts issued in the period.   
 
In the current and prior year, the Company did not identify any facts and circumstances indicating that 
the assets may be impaired.   
 
3.7 Liability adequacy test 

 
At each reporting date, the Company review the carrying amounts of their insurance liabilities to ensure 
that their recognised insurance liabilities are adequate, using the current estimates of future cash flows 
under their insurance contracts. If that assessment shows that the carrying amount of the insurance 
liabilities less related deferred acquisition costs and related intangible assets if any, is inadequate in the 
light of the estimated future cash flows, the entire deficiency is recognised in the results for the year. 
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3.8 Going concern assumption 

 
The management has performed the preliminary assessment of the Company’ ability to continue as a 
going concern, which covers a period of twelve months from the reporting date. The Company’ 
management has prepared its business forecast and the cash flow projections for the twelve months 
from the reporting date on a conservative basis. These forecasts have been prepared taking into 
consideration the nature and condition of its business, the degree to which it is affected by external 
factors and other financial and non-financial data available at the time of preparation of such forecasts. 
On the basis of such forecasts the management is of the opinion that the Company’ will be able to 
continue its operations for the next twelve months from the reporting date and that the going concern 
assumptions used in the preparation of this financial information is appropriate. The appropriateness 
of the going concern assumptions shall be re-assessed at each reporting date. 
 
3.9 Transition disclosures – IFRS 17 

 
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IFRS 4 and the balance reported under IFRS 17 
as of initial application date 1 January 2022 is as follows: 

 

 
The Company has applied the transition provisions in IFRS 17 and has disclosed the impact of the 
adoption of IFRS 17 on each financial statement line item. The effects of adopting IFRS 17 on the 
Company financial statement at 1 January 2022 are presented in the statement of changes in equity. 
  

 1 January 2022 

Effects of 
application of IFRS 

17 
Restated 

1 January 2022 

 BD BD BD 

    
Assets    
Premiums receivable          1,272,500         (1,272,500)                 -    
    
Liabilities    
Life insurance fund   683,516,346    (683,516,346)                 -    
Claims payable      6,215,055        (6,215,055)                 -    
Insurance contract liabilities                 -       733,834,277    733,834,277  
Other liabilities      1,942,033         1,206,450       3,148,483  
    
Equity    
Total equity   105,478,906                    -      105,478,906  
     IFRS 17 impact                 -        (46,581,826)   (46,581,826) 
     IFRS 9 ECL impact                 -            (673,873)        (673,873) 
     Prior period corrections                 -             564,233          564,233  

Restated equity - - 58,787,440 
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4. Intangible assets 
 

 
Total 
2023 

Total 
2022 

 BD BD 
   

Cost   

At 1 January  548,057 548,057 

Additions 39,320 - 

At 31 December 587,377 548,057 

   

Accumulated amortisation   

At 1 January 548,053 548,053 

Charge for the year 9,920 - 

At 31 December 557,973 548,053 

   
Net book value   
   
At 31 December 2023 29,404 - 

   
At 31 December 2022 - 4 

 
 

5. Furniture and equipment  
 

 
Motor  

vehicles 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

others     
Total 
2023 

Total 
2022 

 BD BD BD BD 
     

Cost     

At 1 January  36,500 18,204 54,704 67,198 

Additions - 3,915 3,915 1,220 

Disposals - (813) (813) (13,714) 

At 31 December 36,500 21,306 57,806 54,704 

     

Accumulated depreciation     

At 1 January 36,400 16,018 52,418 64,531 

Charge for the year  - 1,519 1,519 1,254 

Disposals - (503) (503) (13,367) 

At 31 December 36,400 17,034 53,434 52,418 

     
Net book value     
     
At 31 December 2023 100 4,272 4,372 - 

     
At 31 December 2022 100 2,186 - 2,286 
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6. Right-of-use assets and leases 

 
The Company only operates as a lessee. 
 
6.1 Right-of-use assets 

 
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the Company’s office premises at Al Zamil Tower in 
Kingdom of Bahrain, which are leased by the Company, for an average term of 5 years. 
 

 

Right-of-use 
assets 

2023 

Right-of-use 
assets 

2022 

 BD BD 
   
Cost   
At 1 January and at 31 December 54,786 54,786 

   
Accumulated amortisation    
At 1 January 35,942 28,576 
Charge for the year 6,855 7,366 

At 31 December 42,797 35,942 

   
Net book value   
   
At 31 December 2023 11,989 - 

   
At 31 December 2022 - 18,844 

 
At the reporting date, none of the property leases in which the Company is the lessee, contained 
variable lease payment terms. 
 
6.2 Lease liabilities 

 
With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is reflected 
on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.  
 
Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Company to 
sublet the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Company. Leases are 
either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. Some leases 
contain an option to extend the lease for a further term. The Company is prohibited from selling or 
pledging the underlying leased assets as security.  

 
 2023 2022 

 BD BD 
   
At 1 January 20,740 28,127 
Accretion of interest 803 1,153 
Payments (8,016) (8,540) 

At 31 December 13,527 20,740 
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The maturity analysis of lease liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 is as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
 BD BD 

   
Current 7,581 7,215 
Non current 5,946 13,525 

 13,527 20,740 

 
The table below describes the nature of the Company’s leasing activities by type of right-of-use asset 
recognised on the statement of financial position: 
 

Right-of-use asset 

No. of right-of-
use assets 

leased 
Range of 

remaining term 

Average 
remaining lease 

term 

No. of leases 
with extension 

options 

No. of leases 
with 

termination 
options 

      
Office premises 1 1-2 years 2 years 1 1 

 
The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at 
31 December 2023 were as follows: 
 

 Minimum lease payments due 

 
Within 
1 year 1-2 years Total 

  BD BD BD 
    
31 December 2023    
Lease payments 8,016 6,020 14,036 
Finance charges (435) (74) (509) 

Net present values  7,581 5,946 13,527 

 
The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at 
31 December 2022 were as follows: 
 

 Minimum lease payments due 

 
Within 
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 

 
Total 

  BD BD BD BD 
     
31 December 2022     
Lease payments 8,018 8,018 6,013 22,049 
Finance charges (803) (435) (71) (1,309) 

Net present values  7,215 7,583 5,942 20,740 
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7. Investments 

 

 
 

(a) Investments at amortised cost 
 

As at the reporting date, investments at amortised cost comprise of the following: 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
Debt instruments   
Zero coupon bonds 6,400,457 6,400,457 
Other bonds 283,040,348 306,212,632 

 289,440,805 312,613,089 
Allowance for impairment (18,345,055) (18,584,615) 

At the end of the year 271,095,750 294,028,474 
 

The movements in investments at amortised cost are as follows: 
 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
At the beginning of the year 312,613,089 456,295,923 
Additions 6,466,796 37,869,896 
Disposals/redemptions (27,511,545) (27,435,657) 
Transfer to Munich Reinsurance Company (1,267,060) (152,738,276) 
Capitalization of discount  - 166,015 
Amortisation of premium  (860,475) (1,544,812) 

At the end of the year 289,440,805 312,613,089 

  

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
Investments at amortised cost   
Quoted 271,968,048 302,296,132 
Unquoted  17,472,757 10,316,957 
Allowance for impairment (18,345,055) (18,584,615) 

Total investments at amortised cost (a) 271,095,750 294,028,474 

   
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)   
Quoted 10,597,235 10,857,282 
Unquoted 544,805 544,805 
Allowance for impairment (3,010,623) (2,947,490) 

Total investments at FVOCI (b) 8,131,417 8,454,597 

   

Investments at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) (c) 91,239,153 112,998,493 

   

Total (a)+(b)+(c) 370,466,320 415,481,564 



Life Insurance Corporation (International) B.S.C. (c) 

 

- 48 - 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 
The movement in allowance for impairment is detailed below: 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 

   
At the beginning of the year 18,584,615 11,160,565 

Charge for the year  938,793 7,434,283 

Reversal of impairment (1,178,353) (10,233) 

At the end of the year 18,345,055 18,584,615 
 

During 2022, investments at amortised cost in the amount of BD7,321,482 were under lien to Capital 
Market Authority of Sultanate of Oman. 
 

(b) Investments at FVOCI 
 

As at the reporting date, investments at FVOCI comprise of the following: 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
Quoted investments   
Debt instruments   
Government bonds 725,934 2,091,890 
Other bonds 9,871,301 8,765,392 

 10,597,235 10,857,282 
   
Unquoted equity instruments   
Equity instruments 544,805 544,805 

 544,805 544,805 
   

Total investments 11,142,040 11,402,087 
Allowance for impairment (3,010,623) (2,947,490) 

At the end of the year 8,131,417 8,454,597 
 

The movement in investments at FVOCI is detailed below: 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
At the beginning of the year 11,402,087 14,479,045 
Additions 4,341,284 1,797,863 
Disposals/redemptions (5,037,001) (2,555,993) 
Transfer to Munich Reinsurance Company (268,626) (1,388,545) 
Increase/(decrease) in fair value 704,296 (930,283) 

At the end of the year 11,142,040 11,402,087 
 

The movement in allowance for impairment is detailed below: 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
At the beginning of the year 2,947,490 2,952,138 

Charge for the year  63,133 - 
Reversal of impairment  - (4,648) 

At the end of the year 3,010,623 2,947,490 
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(c) Investments at FVTPL 
 
As at the reporting date, investments at FVTPL comprise of the following: 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
Debt instruments   
Government bonds 52,486,794 63,296,575 
Other bonds 28,637,621 35,308,195 

 81,124,415 98,604,770 
Equity instruments   
Mutual funds 5,940,683 8,127,365 
Equity shares 4,174,055 6,266,358 

 10,114,738 14,393,723 
   

Total investments at FVTPL 91,239,153 112,998,493 

 
 
The movement in financial assets at FVTPL is detailed below: 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 

   
At the beginning of the year 112,998,493 165,950,429 
Additions 3,719,740 3,079,327 
Disposals/redemptions (28,501,715) (19,329,157) 

Transfer to Munich Reinsurance Company (437,777) (19,196,183) 

Foreign Exchange Fluctuation - (68,473) 
Increase/(decrease) in fair value 3,460,412 (17,437,450) 

At the end of the year 91,239,153 112,998,493 

 

 

8. Policy loans 

 
 2023 2022 
 BD BD 
   
Policy loans 4,650,138 4,769,176 
Allowance for expected credit losses (326,634) (332,970) 

 
4,323,504 4,436,206 

 
Policy loans carry interest rate of 8% (2022: 8%) per annum and have varied maturities. These loans 
are granted against active policies and are secured against the Surrender Value.  
  



Life Insurance Corporation (International) B.S.C. (c) 

 

- 50 - 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 

9. Reinsurance contracts receivables 

 

The Company’s panel of reinsurers to whom business is ceded to, comprises of Swiss Re and Munich 
Reinsurance Company. Under the reinsurance treaties, the Company is compensated for losses on 
insurance contracts issued. The retention limit depends on Sum Assured, age of Life Assured and 
whether the life is standard or substandard. The maximum Sum Assured retained by the Company is 
USD100,000. Reinsurance is provided for age groups from 7 years to 99 years for death benefit, 18 
years to 70 years for accidental benefit and from 18 years to 60 years for Critical Illness Rider. These 
reinsurance arrangements protect the Company from high-risk insurance contracts. 
 

Company has entered into a “Life Reinsurance Agreement – Quota Share Reinsurance” with Munich 
Reinsurance Company to eliminate the solvency deficit of its UAE branches. The quota share 
agreement covers mortality, surrender, survival and maturity benefits for 12 products underwritten by 
UAE branches, which cover approximately 90% of its portfolio, by reserves. Through the reinsurance 
arrangement an equivalent amount of inadmissible assets transferred to Munich Reinsurance Company 
which were mostly categorized under investments at amortised cost. The transfer of assets effectively 
converted the inadmissible investments (as per Financial Regulations for Insurance Companies in UAE 
– 2014) into an admissible reinsurance asset on the statement of financial position, thereby freed up 
substantial inadmissible funds into admissible funds to support solvency. Central Bank of UAE 
(CBUAE) and Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) have been duly informed about the reinsurance 
arrangement.  
 

The UAE branches have transferred USD452.54 million of assets to Munich Reinsurance Company, 
following the signing of agreement in September 2022. The UAE operations now, complied with the 
solvency requirement of CBUAE. 
 

 2023 2022 
 BD BD 

Reinsurance contracts receivable   
Munich Reinsurance Company – Surplus share - 91,554 
Munich Reinsurance Company – Quota share (Note 9.1) 159,450,472 167,889,437 

 159,450,472 167,980,991 
 

9.1 Munich Reinsurance Company – Quota share  
 

 2023 2022 
 BD BD 
   
At 1 January 167,889,437 - 
Transfers at market value during the year 1,973,463 171,063,235 
Proceeds on maturity of assets transferred to Munich Reinsurance Company  (9,489,800) (3,109,500) 
Amortisation of cost (922,628) (64,298) 

 159,450,472 167,889,437 
 
 

10. Accrued interest income 
 

 2023 2022 
 BD BD 
   
Accrued interest income on policy loans 1,355,410 1,242,346 
Accrued interest income on investments 7,585,873 9,120,903 

 8,941,283 10,363,249 
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The movement in accrued interest income is as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
 BD BD 
   
At 1 January 10,363,249 9,525,703 
Interest income for the year (Note 24)  28,892,319 28,407,995 
Capitalisation of discount (Note 7 (a)) - (166,015) 
Amortisation of premium (Note 7 (a)) 860,475 1,544,812 
Received during the year (31,174,760) (28,949,246) 

At 31 December 8,941,283 10,363,249 
 

11. Other assets 
 

 2023 2022 
 BD BD 
   
Due from investment custodian 38,334 65,052 
Other receivables 90,666 113,617 
Prepayments  364 - 

 
129,364 178,669 

 

12. Statutory deposits 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
Bank of Baroda, Dubai (12.1) 531,382 516,967 
National Bank of Bahrain (12.2) 56,526 56,526 
Central Bank of Bahrain (12.3) 50,000 50,000 
Emirates NBD– Dubai – Abu Dhabi (12.4) 5,649 5,649 
National Bank of Dubai (12.4) 5,177 5,177 
Oman Housing Bank S.A.O.C. (12.5) - 73,636 
Allowance for expected credit losses (231) (4,761) 

 
648,503 703,194 

 

12.1 The deposits placed in Bank of Baroda, U.A.E, Dubai. are in accordance with the U.A.E. Federal 
Law No. 6 of 2007 concerning formation of Branch., and are under lien to Insurance Authority 
of U.A.E. 

 

12.2 The cash deposit is placed with the National Bank of Bahrain as per section GR-7.1.2 of the 
General Requirement Module of the CBB Insurance Rulebook. 

 

12.3 The cash deposit is placed with the Central Bank of Bahrain (the “CBB”) as per section GR-7.1.2 
of the General Requirement Module of the CBB Insurance Rulebook. 

 

12.4 The deposit placed with Emirates NBD is for Abu Dhabi operations. 
 

12.5  The deposit placed in Oman Housing Bank S.A.O.C., Sultanate of Oman was in accordance with 
Royal Decree No. 12/79 promulgating and governing the insurance companies law in Oman and 
was under lien to Capital Market Authority of the Sultanate of Oman. 

 

Interest rates on above deposits range between 0.001% to 4.6% per annum (2022: 0.001% to 4% per 
annum). 
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13. Term deposits with banks  
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
Deposits with maturities less than three months 54,067,546 6,586,925 
Deposits with maturities more than three months 17,304,546 84,337,055 
Allowance for expected credit losses (7,873) (54,375) 

 71,364,219 90,869,605 

 
Term deposits with banks carry interest ranging from 4.5% to 5.65% per annum (2022: 1.63% to 5.45% 
per annum). 
 
As on 31 December 2023, Omani Riyal of Eight million is under lien to CMA, which are expected to 
be released by August 2024. 
 

14. Related party balances and transactions 
 
The Company’s related parties includes shareholders and key management personnel of the Company 
and their close family members and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by 
such parties. Pricing policies and terms of the transactions with related parties are approved by the 
Company’s management.  
 
The Company’s Shareholders, Life Insurance Corporation of India (“LIC”), and the International 
Agencies Company Limited (“Intercol”) provide administration, technical assistance and other services 
to the Company for which they are entitled to fees at agreed terms. 
 
14.1 Due to related parties 

 
Name of related party Nature of relationship 2023 2022 
  BD BD 
    
The International Agencies Company Limited Shareholder 77,692 67,279 
Life Insurance Corporation of India Shareholder 41,785 18,955 

  119,477 86,234 

 
 

Name of related party 
Nature of 
relationship Nature of transaction 

2023 
BD 

2022 
BD 

     
The International Agencies Company Limited Shareholder Compensation payable 38,917 41,152 
The International Agencies Company Limited Shareholder Commission payable 38,775 26,127 
Life Insurance Corporation of India Shareholder Transfer value of policies  32,689 9,825 
Life Insurance Corporation of India Shareholder Provision for technical 

assistance fees 9,096 9,130 

   119,477 86,234 
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14.2 Related party transactions 
 

Name of related party 
Nature of 
relationship Nature of transaction 

2023 
BD 

2022 
BD 

     
Life Insurance Corporation of India Shareholder Provision/payment for technical 

assistance fee 9,173 8,231 
Life Insurance Corporation of India Shareholder Annual maintenance cost 31,185 31,185 
Life Insurance Corporation of India Shareholder Transfer value of policies – LIC 

India 930,320 667,076 
The International Agencies 
Company Limited 

Shareholder Administration and technical 
expenses 251,648 282,512 

The International Agencies 
Company Limited 

Shareholder Commission expense 
228,229 282,461 

The International Agencies 
Company Limited 

Shareholder Annual maintenance cost 
2,370 1,595 

 

14.3 Compensation of key management personnel 
 

Remuneration to the CEO & Executive Director and other members of key management during the 
year was as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

 BD BD 
   
Short term benefits  196,139 219,089 

 

The above compensation was in the form of salaries, allowances and bonuses. 
 
 

15. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
Cash in hand 265,209 1,723 
Current accounts with commercial banks 10,315,367 12,049,632 
Current accounts with investment banks 10,838,872 17,543,431 
Allowance for expected credit losses (149,594) (188,468) 

 21,269,854 29,406,318 
 

There are no restrictions on bank balances at the time of approval of the financial statements. 
 
 

16. Insurance contract liabilities 
 

 2023 2022 (Restated) 

 Life Total Life Total 

 BD BD BD BD 
      
     
Insurance contracts issued     
− Insurance contract liabilities 580,521,433 580,521,433 633,089,110 633,089,110 
− Insurance contract assets - - - - 

Total insurance contracts issued 580,521,433 580,521,433 633,089,110 633,089,110 
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16. Insurance contract liabilities (Continued) 
 
16.1 Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued  
 
The roll-forward of the net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued, showing the liability for 
remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims for portfolios included in life insurance unit, is 
disclosed in the table below: 
 

 

2023 

Liabilities for remaining 
coverage 

Liabilities for incurred 
claims 

Total 

Excluding 
loss 

component 
Loss 

component 

Estimates of 
present 
value of 

future 
cashflows 

Risk 
adjustment 

(RA) 

 BD BD BD BD BD 
      

Insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 602,200,730 26,175,259 4,710,656 2,465 633,089,110 
Insurance contract assets as at 1 January - - - - - 

Net Insurance contract (assets)/liabilities 
as at 1 January (a) 602,200,730 26,175,259 4,710,656 2,465 633,089,110 

      
Insurance revenue      
Contracts under modified retrospective 
approach (92,247,228) - - - (92,247,228) 
Contracts under fair value approach (13,370,002) - - - (13,370,002) 

Total insurance revenue (105,617,230) - - - (105,617,230) 

      
Insurance service expenses      
Incurred claims and other expenses - (353) 156,417,882 25,866 156,443,395 
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash 
flows 2,531,117 - - - 2,531,117 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversals 
of those losses - (13,042,700) - - (13,042,700) 
Changes to liabilities for incurred claims - - (18,763,920) (9,819) (18,773,739) 

Total insurance service expenses 2,531,117 (13,043,053) 137,653,962 16,047 127,158,073 

      
Insurance service result (103,086,113) (13,043,053) 137,653,962 16,047 21,540,843 
Insurance finance expenses 38,156,524 749,480 352,544 183 39,258,731 

Total changes in the statement of 
comprehensive income (b) (64,929,589) (12,293,573) 138,006,506 16,230 60,799,574 

      
Cash flows      
 Premiums received 24,887,855 - - - 24,887,855 
 Claims and other expenses paid - - (137,292,475) - (137,292,475) 
 Insurance acquisition cash flows  (962,631) - - - (962,631) 

Total cash flows (c) 23,925,224 - (137,292,475) - (113,367,251) 

Net insurance contract 
(assets)/liabilities as at 31 December 
(a+b+c) 561,196,365 13,881,686 5,424,687 18,695 580,521,433 
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16. Insurance contract liabilities (Continued) 
 
16.1 Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued (Continued) 

 

 

2022 (Restated) 

Liabilities for remaining 
coverage 

Liabilities for incurred 
claims 

Total 

Excluding 
loss 

component 
Loss 

component 

Estimates of 
present 
value of 

future 
cashflows 

Risk 
adjustment 

(RA) 

 BD BD BD BD BD 
      

Insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 683,987,454 43,898,920 5,947,869 34 733,834,277 
Insurance contract assets as at 1 January - - -  - 

Net Insurance contract (assets)/liabilities 
as at 1 January (a) 

             
683,987,454  

             
43,898,920  

                 
5,947,869  

                  
34  

             
733,834,277  

      
Insurance revenue      
Contracts under modified retrospective 
approach (46,770,064) - - - (46,770,064) 
Contracts under fair value approach (214,505) - - - (214,505) 

Total insurance revenue (46,984,569) - - - (46,984,569) 

      
Insurance service expenses      
Incurred claims and other expenses - (2,631) 139,473,538 12,310 139,483,217 
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash 
flows 548,119 - - - 548,119 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversals 
of those losses - (13,689,140) - - (13,689,140) 
Changes to liabilities for incurred claims - - (25,062,664) (10,013) (25,072,677) 

Total insurance service expenses 548,119 (13,691,771) 114,410,874 2,297 101,269,519 

      
Insurance service result (46,436,450) (13,691,771) 114,410,874 2,297 54,284,950 
Insurance finance expenses (71,961,356) (4,031,890) 304,258 134 (75,688,854) 

Total changes in the statement of 
comprehensive income (b) (118,397,806) (17,723,661) 114,715,132 2,431 (21,403,904) 

      
Cash flows      
 Premiums received 38,064,083 - - - 38,064,083 
 Claims and other expenses paid - - (115,952,345) - (115,952,345) 
 Insurance acquisition cash flows  (1,453,001) - - - (1,453,001) 

Total cash flows (c) 36,611,082 - (115,952,345) - (79,341,263) 

Net insurance contract 
(assets)/liabilities as at 31 December 
(a+b+c) 602,200,730 26,175,259 4,710,656 2,465 633,089,110 
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16. Insurance contract liabilities (Continued) 
 
16.2 Movements in insurance and reinsurance contract balances  
 
The table below presents a roll-forward of the net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued 
showing estimates of the present value of future cash flows, risk adjustment and CSM for portfolios 
included in the life insurance unit. 
 

 

2023 

Estimates of 
the present 

value of future 
cash flows 

Risk 
adjustment 

Contractual 
Service Margin Total  

 BD BD BD BD 
     
Insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 580,383,694 317,776 52,387,640 633,089,110 
Insurance contract assets as at 1 January - - - - 

Net Insurance contract (assets)/liabilities  
as at 1 January (a) 580,383,694 317,776 52,387,640 633,089,110 

     
Changes that relate to current services     
 Contractual service margin recognised for 
   services provided  - - (102,912,249) (102,912,249) 
 Risk adjustment recognised for the risk  
   expired - (94,520) - (94,520) 
 Experience adjustments 156,361,920 - - 156,361,920 
Changes that relate to future services     
 Contracts initially recognised in the year  (651,725) 44,809 689,328 82,412 
 Changes in estimates that adjust the  
   contractual service margin (126,044,521) 1,004,556 125,039,965 - 
 Changes in estimates that do not adjust  
   the contractual service margin  (13,483,340) 360,359 - (13,122,981) 
Changes that relate to past services      
 Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims  (18,763,921) (9,818) - (18,773,739) 

Insurance service result  (2,581,587) 1,305,386 22,817,044 21,540,843 
Insurance finance expenses  35,909,914 21,597 3,327,220 39,258,731 

Total changes in the statement of 
comprehensive income (b) 33,328,327 1,326,983 26,144,264 60,799,574 

Cash flows     
 Premiums received 24,887,855 - - 24,887,855 
 Claims and other expenses paid (137,292,475) - - (137,292,475) 
 Insurance acquisition cash flows  (962,631) - - (962,631) 

Total cash flows (c) (113,367,251) - - (113,367,251) 

Net Insurance contract (assets)/liabilities  
as at 31 December (a+b+c) 500,344,770 1,644,759 78,531,904 580,521,433 
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16. Insurance contract liabilities (Continued) 
 
16.2 Movements in insurance and reinsurance contract balances (Continued) 
 

 2022 (Restated) 

 

Estimates of 
the present 

value of future 
cash flows 

Risk 
adjustment 

Contractual 
Service Margin Total  

 BD BD BD BD 
     
Insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 714,626,569 391,590 18,816,117 733,834,276 
Insurance contract assets as at 1 January - - - - 

Net Insurance contract (assets)/liabilities  
as at 1 January (a) 714,626,569 391,590 18,816,117 733,834,276 

     
Changes that relate to current services     
 Contractual service margin recognised for 
   services provided  - - (46,314,358) (46,314,358) 
 Risk adjustment recognised for the risk  
   expired - (57,740) - (57,740) 
 Experience adjustments 139,416,351 - - 139,416,351 
Changes that relate to future services     
 Contracts initially recognised in the year  111,888 13,755 787,902 913,545 
 Changes in estimates that adjust the  
   contractual service margin (77,931,013) (20,255) 77,951,268 - 
 Changes in estimates that do not adjust  
   the contractual service margin  (14,587,310) (12,860) - (14,600,170) 
Changes that relate to past services      
 Adjustments to liabilities for incurred  
   claims  (25,062,664) (10,014) - (25,072,678) 

Insurance service result  21,947,252 (87,114) 32,424,812 54,284,950 
Insurance finance expenses  (76,848,864) 13,300 1,146,711 (75,688,853) 

Total changes in the statement of 
comprehensive income (b) (54,901,612) (73,814) 33,571,523 (21,403,903) 

Cash flows     
 Premiums received 38,064,083 - - 38,064,083 
 Claims and other expenses paid (115,952,345) - - (115,952,345) 
 Insurance acquisition cash flows  (1,453,001) - - (1,453,001) 

Total cash flows (c) (79,341,263) - - (79,341,263) 

Net Insurance contract (assets)/liabilities  
as at 31 December (a+b+c) 580,383,694 317,776 52,387,640 633,089,110 
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16. Insurance contract liabilities (Continued) 
 
16.3 The components of new business - Life Insurance contracts issued 
 
The table below presents the components of new business for insurance contracts issued included in 
the life insurance unit. 
 

 2023 

 Contracts issued 

 Non-onerous Total 

 BD BD 

   
Life insurance contract liabilities   
Estimate of present value of future cash outflows, excluding insurance acquisition cash 
flows 14,887,230 14,887,230 
Estimates of insurance acquisition cash flows 570,822 570,822 

Estimate of present value of future cash outflows 15,458,052 15,458,052 
Estimates of present value of future cash inflows (16,109,777) (16,109,777) 
Risk adjustment 44,809 44,809 
Contractual service margin  689,328 689,328 

Loss on onerous contracts at initial recognition 82,412 82,412 

 

 2022 (Restated) 

 Contracts issued 

 Non-onerous Total 

 BD BD 

   
Life insurance contract liabilities   
Estimate of present value of future cash outflows, excluding insurance acquisition cash 
flows 26,282,424 26,282,424 
Estimates of insurance acquisition cash flows 244,135 244,135 

Estimate of present value of future cash outflows 26,526,559 26,526,559 
Estimates of present value of future cash inflows (26,414,671) (26,414,671) 
Risk adjustment 13,755 13,755 
Contractual service margin 787,902 787,902 

Loss on onerous contracts at initial recognition 913,545 913,545 
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16. Insurance contract liabilities (Continued) 
 
16.4 The impacts on the current period of transition approaches adopted to establishing Contractual service margin 
(CSMs) - Life Insurance contracts issued 
 

 2023 

 

Contracts 
using the 
modified 

retrospective 
approach 

Contracts 
using the fair 

value approach Total 

 BD BD BD 

    
Contractual service margin as at 1 January 25,654,506 26,733,134 52,387,640 

Changes that relate to current services:    
    Contractual service margin recognised for services provided (89,644,859) (13,267,390) (102,912,249) 

Changes that relate to future services:    
    Contracts initially recognised in the period 689,328 - 689,328 
    Changes in estimates that adjust the contractual service margin 94,289,522 30,750,443 125,039,965 

Insurance service result 5,333,991 17,483,053 22,817,044 
Insurance finance expenses 2,213,926 1,113,294 3,327,220 

Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income 
  and OCI 7,547,917 18,596,347 26,144,264 
Other movements - - - 

Contractual service margin as at 31 December 33,202,423 45,329,481 78,531,904 

 

 2022 (Restated) 

 

Contracts 
using the 
modified 

retrospective 
approach 

Contracts 
using the fair 

value approach Total 

 BD BD BD 

    
Contractual service margin as at 1 January 16,290,880 2,525,237 18,816,117 

Changes that relate to current services:    
    Contractual service margin recognised for services provided (46,100,214) (214,144) (46,314,358) 

Changes that relate to future services:    
    Contracts initially recognised in the period 787,902 - 787,902 
    Changes in estimates that adjust the contractual service margin 53,768,704 24,182,564 77,951,268 

Insurance service result 8,456,392 23,968,420 32,424,812 
Insurance finance expenses 907,234 239,477 1,146,711 

Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income  
  and OCI 9,363,626 24,207,897 33,571,523 
Other movements - - - 

Contractual service margin as at 31 December 25,654,506 26,733,134 52,387,640 
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17. Zakat and tax provisions  
 

 
Saudi Tax and 

Zakat 
Kuwait  

Tax 
Oman  

Tax 
2023 
Total 

2022 
Total 

 BD BD BD BD BD 
      
At 1 January 134,949 165,061 - 300,010 300,010 
Tax expense  - 122,295 46,664 168,959 - 
Reversed/paid during the year (134,949) - (46,664) (181,613) - 

At 31 December - 287,356 - 287,356 300,010 

 

With respect to the earlier operations in Saudi Arabia, the Company did not receive any new tax 
assessment from year 2009 as of the approval date of this audited financial statement. The provision 
of BD134,949 was provided in the year 2010 reversed during the year 2023 based on recommendation 
of internal auditor.  
 

The Director of Income Tax (“DIT”) in Kuwait had finalised the Company’s tax declarations in respect 
of the Company’s Kuwait operations up to the year 2012. The Company filed appeals against the 
rejection of objections against the tax assessment for the year 2013 and 2014 before the Appeal 
Committee of Ministry of Finance- Kuwait, for which the decision is pending.  
 

During 2021, the tax department under Ministry of Finance- Kuwait completed the assessment of tax 
and issued demand equivalent to BD80,524 for the years 2015 and 2016. The Company filed objections 
before Kuwait - tax authorities against both tax assessment orders in May 2021. Due to no response 
being received, an appeal was filed in September 2021. As a result, additional tax provision amounting 
to BD80,524 has been made during 2021 against tax demand for years 2015 and 2016.  
 

During the year 2023, the tax department under Ministry of Finance- Kuwait completed the assessment 
of tax for the year 2017 and 2018. The Tax authority issued demand equivalent to BD60,687 for the 
year 2017 and BD61,608 for the years 2018 respectively. 
 

The Company’s Oman Branch's tax assessments for the years 2019 to 2023 have been completed by 
the income tax department. Filing of Income Tax and VAT return for the year 2023 has been filed and 
tax assessment is under process. The Company’s management is of the opinion that the additional 
taxes, if any, that may become payable on finalization of the pending tax assessment would not be 
significant to the Company’s financial position at 31 December 2023. 
 
 

18. Other liabilities 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
ULIP liabilities 1,242,619 972,278 
Reinsurance fee payable to Munich Reinsurance Company  654,982 350,848 
Financial liabilities for ULIP 436,031 9,843 
Accrued expenses and provisions 276,287 217,734 
Policy deposits 273,467 323,754 
Discounted premium received in advance 246,144 370,614 
Accounts payable 128,510 165,648 
Proposal deposits 81,964 28,667 
VAT payable 5,523 11,913 

 3,345,527 2,451,299 
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19. Share capital 
 

The share capital of the Company consists of 654,393 shares of BD100 each, authorised, issued and 
fully paid up. 
 

 
 

Number of 
shares  % 

Amount 
BD 

    
Life Insurance Corporation of India 652,193 99.7 65,219,300 
The International Agencies Company Limited, Bahrain 2,200 0.3 220,000 

 654,393 100 65,439,300 
 
 

20. Statutory reserve  
 

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and Company’s Articles of Association, 10% 
of the profit for the year should be transferred to a statutory reserve. The Company may resolve to 
discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of the issued share capital. The reserve 
is not available for distribution, except in circumstances stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial 
Companies Law. No transfer has been made to this reserve during the year as the Company incurred 
a loss (2022: BDNil).  
 
 

21. Contingency fund reserve 
 

As per Article 20 of the Oman Insurance Companies Law 1979 and article 10 (bis) (3) (b) to the 
executive by-law issued by Capital Market Authority (CMA) vide administrative decision no. 19/2007 
dated 4 June 2007, an amount equal to 1% of the net premiums for the year is to be transferred to a 
contingency reserve. The fund is not available for distribution, without prior approval of the CMA. No 
transfer has been made to this reserve during the year since Oman operations were ceased as of 31 
December 2023 (2022: BD3,612). 
 
 

22. Insurance revenue 
 

The following tables present an analysis of the insurance revenue recognised in the year.  
 

 2023 (Restated) 2022 

 Life Total Life Total 

 BD BD BD BD 
     
Amounts relating to the changes in the 
liability for remaining coverage 

 
 

  

− Expected insurance service expenses 
incurred in the year 55,609 55,609 54,555 54,555 

− Change in the risk adjustment for 
nonfinancial risk 118,255 118,255 67,536 67,536 

− Amount of CSM recognised in profit or loss 102,912,249 102,912,249 46,314,359 46,314,359 
Amounts relating to recovery of insurance 
acquisition cash flows     
− Allocation of the portion of premiums that 

relate to the recovery of insurance 
acquisition cash flows 2,531,117 2,531,117 548,119 548,119 

Insurance Revenue 105,617,230 105,617,230 46,984,569 46,984,569 



Life Insurance Corporation (International) B.S.C. (c) 

 

- 62 - 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 
 

23. Net finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 
 

 2023 

 Insurance Related 

 Life  Total 

 BD BD 

   
Insurance finance expenses from insurance contracts issued   
Interest accreted to insurance contracts using current financial assumptions (35,130,965) (35,130,965) 
Interest accreted to insurance contracts using locked-in rate (3,327,220) (3,327,220) 
Due to changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions (800,547) (800,547) 

Total insurance finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (39,258,732) (39,258,732) 

Represented by:   
Amounts recognised in profit or loss  (22,093,843) (22,093,843) 
Amounts recognised in OCI (17,164,889) (17,164,889) 

 

 2022 (Restated) 

 Insurance Related 

 Life  Total 

 BD BD 

   
Insurance finance expenses from insurance contracts issued   
Interest accreted to insurance contracts using current financial assumptions (23,725,892) (23,725,892) 
Interest accreted to insurance contracts using locked-in rate (1,146,711) (1,146,711) 
Due to changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions 100,561,457 100,561,457 

Total insurance finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 75,688,854 75,688,854 

Represented by:   
Amounts recognised in profit or loss  (20,464,913) (20,464,913) 
Amounts recognised in OCI 96,153,767 96,153,767 

 
 

24. Realised income from investments 
 

 
 

25. Other income 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
Interest on policy loans  577,762 325,055 
Interest on premiums 38,013 56,431 
ULIP charges 21,125 21,636 
Others 59,984 163,263 

 696,884 566,385 

 

 2023 2022 
 BD BD 
   
Interest income 28,892,319 28,407,995 
Dividends income 148,541 350,089 
(Loss)/gain on sale of investments (122,901) 2,456,133 

 
28,917,959 31,214,217 
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26. Financial assets and liabilities and risk management 
 

The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise of bank balances, term deposits with banks, 
statutory deposits, reinsurance contracts receivables, accrued interest income, policy loans, other assets, 
investments, insurance contract liabilities, reinsurance contracts liabilities, amounts due to related 
parties, zakat and tax provisions and other liabilities. 
 

The Company does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options. 
 

The risk associated with financial instruments and the Company's approach to managing such risks are 
described as follows: 
 
26.1 Capital risk management 
 

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance.  
 

The capital structure of the Company consists of net of bank balances and cash and equity comprising 
issued capital, reserves (including investments fair value reserve) and retained earnings. 
 

26.2 Insurance risk management 
 

Insurance risk is the risk, other than financial risk, transferred from the holder of a contract to the 
issuer. 
 

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the 
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the nature of an insurance contract, this risk is 
random and therefore unpredictable. 
 

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and 
provisioning, the principal risk that the Company faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual 
claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur 
because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events 
are random and the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year. 
 

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative 
variability over the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to 
be affected across the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Company has developed 
its insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted within each of these 
categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected 
outcome. 
 

The Company manages risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance arrangements and 
proactive claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure that the underwritten risks are 
well diversified in terms of type and amount of risk, industry and age group. Underwriting limits are in 
place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria. 
 

26.3 Reinsurance risk management 
 

Reinsurance risk is the risk, other than financial risk, transferred insurance contract issued by one 
insurer to compensate another insurer for one or more contracts issued by the cedant. 
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In common with other insurance companies, in order to minimize financial exposure arising from large 
insurance claims, the Company, in the normal course of business, enters into arrangement with other 
parties for reinsurance purposes.  
 
Reinsurance contracts ceded do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders. The 
Company remains liable to its policyholders for the portion reinsured to the extent that any reinsurer 
does not meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance agreements. To minimize its exposure to 
significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies the Company obtains reinsurance through financially 
sound reinsurers, being Swiss Reinsurance Company and Munich Reinsurance Company as explained 
in Note 9. 
 
26.4 Claim development 

 
Disclosure about claims development has not been presented since uncertainty about the amount and 
timing of claims payments is typically resolved within one year.  
 
26.5 Market risk  

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as 
a result of changes in market prices. The Company is exposed to market risk with respect to its 
investments foreign currency denominated financial instruments and interest bearing financial 
instruments. 
 
26.6 Fair value risk management 

 
Fair value risk is the risk that the fair values of investment securities decrease as the result of changes 
in the levels of individual prices. Price risk arises from the change in fair values of investment securities. 
 
The Company is exposed to fair value risks arising from investment securities. Investment securities 
are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Company does not actively trade in these 
investment securities. 
 
26.7 Currency risk management 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are denominated in Bahraini Dinars, United 
States Dollars, United Arab Emirates Dirhams, Saudi Arabian Riyals, Omani Riyals, Qatari Riyals, 
Kuwaiti Dinars and Indian Rupees. As the Bahraini Dinar, United Arab Emirates Dirham, Omani 
Riyal, Qatari Riyal and Saudi Arabian Riyal are effectively pegged to the United States Dollar, balances 
in these currencies are not considered to represent a significant currency risk. However, balances 
denominated in Indian Rupees and Kuwaiti Dinars are exposed to movements in exchange rate. 
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The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: 
 

 Assets Liabilities 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD BD BD 
     
United States Dollars 618,546,541 690,357,507 7,569,167 6,531,085 
Indian Rupees 1,539,383 3,346,246 - - 
Saudi Riyals 80,454 102,930 8,884 143,793 
Oman Riyals 8,377,134 21,493,635 - 12,322 
United Arab Emirates - Dirhams 4,382,486 2,273,386 379,903 132,795 
Kuwaiti Dinars 1,757,768 1,210,200 299,989 184,203 
Qatari Riyals 907,715 632,478 - 624 

 635,591,481 719,416,382 8,257,943 7,004,822 

 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
 

The Company is mainly exposed to currency risk with respect to the Indian Rupee and Kuwaiti Dinar.  
 

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 10% increase in the Indian Rupee and Kuwaiti 
Dinar against the Bahraini Dinar considered separately. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting 
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only 
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end 
for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit 
(and a negative number indicates a decrease in profit) where the Indian Rupee and Kuwaiti Dinar 
strengthens 10% against the Bahraini Dinar. For a 10% weakening of the Indian Rupee and Kuwaiti 
Dinar against the Bahraini Dinar, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit. 
 

 

(a) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on Indian Rupee receivables at year end in 
the Company.  

 

(b) This is mainly attributable to the net exposure outstanding on Kuwaiti Dinar at year end in the 
Company.  

 

26.8 Interest rate risk management 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. 
 

The Company’s term deposits with banks are at fixed interest rates with variable maturity periods. 
Investments in bonds are at fixed and floating interest rates and include both government and other 
bonds. The Company holds most of these bonds to maturity and the accounting policy for amortized 
cost investments. Thus repricing, in respect of fixed rate financial instruments, only occurs when funds 
are being reinvested on maturity of a deposit or bond. 
  

 Profit or loss 
 2023 2022 
 BD BD 
Impact on:   
Indian Rupee (a)  153,938       334,625  
Kuwaiti Dinar (b)  145,778       102,600  
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26.9 Credit risk management 

 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss.  
 
The Company manages credit risk with respect to receivables from policyholders by monitoring in 
accordance with defined policies and procedures. Credit risk with respect to reinsurance companies is 
not considered to be significant. 
 
The Company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 
group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Company defines counterparties as having 
similar characteristics if they are related entities or customers.  
 
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with good credit ratings. 
 
Overall exposure to credit risk 
 
The carrying value of financial assets at the reporting date represents the Company’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk on financial assets as summarised below:  
 

 
26.10 Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. Liquidity risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit down grades, which 
may cause certain sources of funding to dry up immediately.  
 
To mitigate the risk, management ensures it has access to diversified funding sources and assets are 
managed with liquidity in mind, thereby maintaining a healthy balance of cash and cash equivalents to 
meet any unexpected liquidity needs. The management of the Company also manages the maturities of 
the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities in such a way so as to be able to maintain an 
adequate liquidity ratio. 
 
26.11 Fair value measurements 

 
Valuation methods and assumptions 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
Fair values of quoted securities are derived from quoted market prices in active markets, if available. 
For unquoted securities, fair value is estimated using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques 
may include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another 
instrument that is substantially the same or other valuation models.  

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
Financial assets BD BD 
   
Financial assets at amortised cost  271,095,750 294,028,474 
Financial assets at FVOCI  8,131,417 8,454,597 
Financial assets at FVTPL  91,239,153 112,998,493 

 
370,466,320 415,481,564 
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Set out below is an overview of the financial instruments held by the Company as at 31 December 
2023 and 31 December 2022: 
 

 2023 

 
Financial 
assets at 

FVOCI 

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Amortized 
cost  Total 

 BD BD BD BD 
     
Financial assets     
Statutory deposits - - 648,503 648,503 
Investments 8,131,417 91,239,153 271,095,750 370,466,320 
Policy loans - - 4,323,504 4,323,504 
Reinsurance contracts receivable - - 159,450,472 159,450,472 
Term deposits with banks - - 71,364,219 71,364,219 
Accrued interest income - - 8,941,283 8,941,283 
Other assets - - 129,364 129,364 
Bank balance - - 21,154,239 21,154,239 

 8,131,417 91,239,153 537,107,334 636,477,904 

 

  2023  
  BD 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:   
Employees’ end-of-service indemnity  41,822 
Amounts due to related parties  119,477 
Zakat and tax provision  287,356 
Insurance contract liabilities  580,521,433 
Reinsurance contracts liabilities  77,626 
Lease liabilities  13,527 
Other liabilities  3,345,527 

  
584,406,768 

 
 2022 (Restated) 

 
Financial 
assets at 

FVOCI 

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Amortized 
cost  Total 

 BD BD BD BD 
     
Financial assets     
Statutory deposits - - 703,194 703,194 
Investments 8,454,597 112,998,493 294,028,474 415,481,564 
Policy loans - - 4,436,206 4,436,206 
Reinsurance contracts receivable - - 167,980,991 167,980,991 
Term deposits with banks - - 90,869,605 90,869,605 
Accrued interest income - - 10,363,249 10,363,249 
Other assets - - 178,669 178,669 
Bank balance - - 29,593,063 29,593,063 

 
8,454,597 112,998,493 598,153,451 719,606,541 
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(Restated) 
2022  

  BD 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:   
Employees’ end-of-service indemnity  29,969 
Amounts due to related parties  86,234 
Zakat and tax provision  300,010 
Insurance contract liabilities  633,089,110 
Reinsurance contracts liabilities  80,154 
Lease liabilities  20,740 
Other liabilities  2,451,299 

  
636,057,516 

 
26.12 Fair value hierarchy 

 
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 

instruments by valuation technique: 

 

-Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

-Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 

value are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

-Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that 

are not based on observable market data. 

 

 2023 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 BD BD BD BD 
     
Financial assets at FVOCI     

Manufacturing - - - - 
Banking industry 7,177,038 - - 7,177,038 
Oil and gas industry - - - - 
Government sector 725,934 - - 725,934 
Real estate - - - - 
Others              228,445  - -              228,445  

 8,131,417 - - 8,131,417 

     
Financial assets at FVTPL     

Manufacturing industry - - - - 
Banking industry 22,961,284 - - 22,961,284 
Oil and gas industry 817,560 - - 817,560 
Government sector 52,486,794 - - 52,486,794 
Real estate industry 24,406 - - 24,406 
Others 14,949,109 - - 14,949,109 

 91,239,153 - - 91,239,153 

 99,370,570 - - 99,370,570 
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 2022 (Restated) 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 BD BD BD BD 
     
Financial assets at FVOCI     

Manufacturing 46,118 - - 46,118 
Banking industry 5,930,117 - - 5,930,117 
Oil and gas industry - - - - 
Government sector 1,547,085 - - 1,547,085 
Real estate - - - - 
Others 386,472 544,805 - 931277 

 7,909,792 544,805 - 8,454,597 

     
Financial assets at FVTPL     

Manufacturing industry 285,260 - - 285,260 
Banking industry 27,293,858 - - 27,293,858 
Oil and gas industry 767,917 - - 767,917 
Government sector 69,726,300 - - 69,726,300 
Real estate industry 1,803,799 - - 1,803,799 
Others 13,121,359 - - 13,121,359 

 112,998,493 - - 112,998,493 

 120,908,285 544,805 - 121,453,090 

 

The date of valuation was 31 December 2023 for the current year and 31 December 2022 for the 

comparative year respectively. 

 

Transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 
 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value hierarchies, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy (2022: No transfers).  
 
 

27. Geographical concentration of investments 
 

27.1 Amortised cost  
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
BRICS countries 42,180,541 40,507,850 
Developed countries 33,616,756 34,656,417 
Other countries 195,298,453 218,864,207 

 271,095,750 294,028,474 

 
27.2 Financial assets at FVOCI 
 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
BRICS countries 1,864,368 46,118 
Other countries 6,267,049 8,408,479 

 8,131,417 8,454,597 
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27.3 Financial assets at FVTPL 

 

 2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 
   
BRICS countries 5,826,842 7,996,371 
Developed countries 3,279,136 3,412,021 
Other countries 82,133,175 101,590,101 

 91,239,153 112,998,493 

 
 

28. Contingencies and commitments 
 
28.1 Commitments 

 
 

2023 
(Restated) 

2022 
 BD BD 

   
Investment commitments 60,063 62,412 

 
28.2 Legal case 

 
As on 31 December 2023, there were no legal cases against the Company. 
 
 

29. Capital management policies and procedures 
 
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize Shareholders value. 
 
Equity comprises share capital, statutory reserve, contingency reserve, insurance finance reserve, 
reinsurance reserve, investments fair value reserve and accumulated losses and is measured at 
BD52,232,516 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: BD83,383,414). 
 
The Company’s regulatory capital base and the solvency margin have been calculated in accordance 
with the guidelines of CBB Rule book Volume 3 applicable to Insurance as follows:   
 
The Board policy is to maintain an acceptable reserve for the Company so as to maintain investor, 
creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the Company. The Company 
uses the available financial surplus by investing in low risk investments whilst achieving acceptable 
returns for the Company. The CBB regulations require minimum capital of BD5,000,000 to be 
maintained at all times. Any shortfall in capital is bridged by additional contribution of capital by the 
shareholders. As at 31 December 2023, the solvency ratio is well above the minimum regulatory 
requirement of 100%.  
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 2023  2022 
 BD BD 
   
Tier 1 capital 78,511,382 74,954,682 
Tier 2 capital 1,557,185 293,535 
Deductions from capital (10,770,565) (10,303,869) 

Regulatory capital (A) 69,298,002 

 

64,944,348 

    
Solvency margin requirement (B) 22,089,376 25,798,186 

Excess solvency margin (A-B) 47,208,626 

 

39,146,162 

Solvency ratio (A/B) 313.71% 

 

251.74% 
 

The issued share capital which is classified as a part of tier 1 capital is above minimum tier 1 capital 
requirement of BD5,000,000 as per section CA – 1.2.1 of CBB rulebook volume 3.  
 
 

30. Post- reporting date events 
 

No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the reporting date and the date 
of authorization. 
 
 

31. Prior period adjustment 
 

During the year, following errors was rectified and opening balances has been restated: 
 

1. The Company has accounted the foreign exchange reserves accumulated on investments at FVTPL 
incorrectly and the investments were understated by BD564,233.  

2. The investment fair value reserve was overstated by BD690,338 due to error by the management in 
prior years. 

 

The effect of the restatement on financial statements is summarized below: 
 

Hence the statement of financial position was restated retrospectively as follows: 
 

 

 Previously reported 
 1 January 

 2022 
 Correction of 

errors 

 Restated  
 1 January 

 2022 
 BD BD BD 
    
Statement of financial position    

Investment at FVTPL 165,386,196 564,233 165,950,429 
Fair value reserve 453,254 (690,338) (237,084) 
Accumulated losses (14,382,090) 1,254,571 (13,127,519) 

 

 

 Previously reported 
 31 December 

 2022 
 Correction of 

errors 

 Restated  
 31 December 

 2022 
  BD  BD  BD 
       
Statement of financial position    
Investment at FVTPL 112,434,260 564,233 112,998,493 
Fair value reserve (477,029) (690,338) (1,167,367) 
Accumulated losses (85,188,115) 1,254,571 (83,933,544) 
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32. Comparative figures 

 
Comparative figures for the previous period have been reclassified/ re-arranged wherever necessary to 
conform with the presentation in the current period’s condensed interim financial statements. 
 
 

33. Life insurance corporation group information 

 
Life Insurance Corporation of India’s Group financial information can be accessed at www.licindia.in. 
 
  

http://www.licindia.in/
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

Geographical segments information 
 

 2023 

 Bahrain 
United Arab 

Emirates Total 

 BD BD BD 
    
Insurance revenue 20,093,111 85,524,119 105,617,230 
Insurance service expenses (26,620,044) (100,538,029) (127,158,073) 

Insurance service result before reinsurance contracts held (a) (6,526,933) (15,013,910) (21,540,843) 
    
Allocation of reinsurance premium paid (67,868) (89,075) (156,943) 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers - - - 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held (b) (67,868) (89,075) (156,943) 
    

Insurance service result (a+b) (6,594,801) (15,102,985) (21,697,786) 
    
Net finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (10,292,461) (11,801,382) (22,093,843) 

Net financial result (c) (10,292,461) (11,801,382) (22,093,843) 
    

Net financial results from insurance operations (a+b+c) (16,887,262) (26,904,367) (43,791,629) 

 
 2022 

 Bahrain 
United Arab 

Emirates Total 

 BD BD BD 
    
Insurance revenue 1,196,856 45,787,713 46,984,569 
Insurance service expenses (15,764,489) (85,505,030) (101,269,519) 

Insurance service result before reinsurance contracts held (a) (14,567,633) (39,717,317) (54,284,950) 
    
Allocation of reinsurance premium paid (204,146) (84,793) (288,939) 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers - 574,595 574,595 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held (b) (204,146) 489,802 285,656 
    

Insurance service result (a+b) (14,771,779) (39,227,515) (53,999,294) 
    
Net finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (9,056,239) (11,408,674) (20,464,913) 

Net financial result (c) (9,056,239) (11,408,674) (20,464,913) 
    

Net financial results from insurance operations (a+b+c) (23,828,018) (50,636,189) (74,464,207) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 




